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Established in March 1997, The Hong Kong
Mortgage Corporation Limited' is wholly owned

by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government through the Exchange Fund. It
has three wholly-owned subsidiaries, HKMC
Insurance Limited, HKMC Annuity Limited and
HKMC Mortgage Management Limited.

Missions

To promote:
e stability of the banking sector
wider home ownership
development of the local debt market

development of retirement planning market

Credit Ratings

S&P Moody's
Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

Local Currency A1+ AA+ P-1 Aa3

Foreign Currency A-1+ AA+ P-1 Aa3

Outlook Stable Stable

(as at 21 January 2020)
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Financial Highlights

2019 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FOR THE YEAR

Net interest income 523,991 536,209 507,578
Profit attributable to shareholder 317,461 126,558 806,395
Loan purchases 1,876,551 287,705 315,793
Debts issuance’ 17,724,508 12,424,465 17,856,470

Net premiums written
— General insurance businesses 466,215 565,739 417,076
— Annulity business 1,630,827 2,780,240 n.a.

AT YEAR END
Loan portfolio, net 6,928,045 6,442,064 7,829,441
Debt securities issued 39,710,963 37,292,877 34,840,706
Risk-in-force
— Mortgage insurance? 23,075,987 19,723,956 17,588,701
— Reverse mortgage insurance® 11,239,454 9,644,152 6,875,721

OTHER STATISTICS

Net interest margin 1.0% 1.1% 1.1%
Capital adequacy ratio 30.2% 26.8% 21.0%
Cost-to-income ratio 58.7%* 86.0%" 26.8%
Return on shareholder’s equity 2.1%* 0.9%* 8.6%

For debts with tenor of one year or above.

The risk-in-force excludes exposure that has been covered by quota-share reinsurance arrangement.

The risk-in-force includes the outstanding balance and undrawn commitment of a reverse mortgage loan, excluding exposure that has been covered by
guota-share reinsurance arrangement. Undrawn commitment refers to the amount of expected future payout to the borrower based on the payment term.
For comparison purposes, after excluding an accounting loss for maintaining prudent statutory reserves based on actuarial assumptions for annuity
business made by the HKMC Annuity Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the HKMC, the adjusted attributable profit to shareholder, return on
shareholder’s equity and cost-to-income ratio for 2019 would be HK$443 million, 4.2% and 41.8% respectively (2018: HK$515 million, 5.1% and 36.7%
respectively).
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Chairman’s Statement

Developing multi-faceted
businesses in fulfilment
of core missions and social
objectives.

Chan Mo-po, Paul

Chairman

The global economy experienced a synchronised slowdown
in 2019, beset with considerable downward pressures
from an array of factors including the escalation of US-
China trade tensions, risk of a hard Brexit and heightened
geopolitical tensions in the Middle East. Economic growth
in the US eased and that in the euro area was modest. The
Mainland economy attained its growth target, although with
a decelerated growth momentum.

Faced with significant external headwinds, the Hong
Kong economy was already quite weak in the first half of
2019. Aggravated by the severe blow from the local social
incidents, the economy deteriorated abruptly in the second
half of the year and recorded its first annual contraction
since 2009. The residential property market has been
consolidating since June after staying generally active during
the first five months of 2019. Yet, the downward adjustment
had been moderate and property prices were still out of
line with economic fundamentals and affordability of the
general public.

Purchase of Mortgage Assets

The Group purchased loan assets of about HK$2 million
in 2019 (2018: HK$287.7 million) as ample liquidity in the
banking system continued to dampen banks’ appetite in off-
loading mortgage assets. In recognition of its pivotal role to
reinforce the banking and financial stability of Hong Kong,
the Group stands ready to purchase mortgage loans from
the banking sector should the need arise.

Promoting Development of Debt Market

The Group has been playing a key role in promoting the
development of the local debt market. It has remained a
major and active corporate debt issuer in Hong Kong for
two decades. In 2019, the Group issued debt securities
in different currencies (with tenor of one year or above)
totalling around HK$17.7 billion to satisfy its refinancing
needs and support its business activities. The Group’s credit
ratings are AA+ from Standard & Poor’'s and Aa3 from
Moody's, same as those of the HKSAR Government.

Supporting Home Ownership

The Mortgage Insurance Programme (MIP) is an integral
part of the property mortgage market in Hong Kong. Since
its inception in 1999, the MIP has assisted more than
149,000 families to buy their own homes in the pursuit
of the Group’s core mission to promote wider home
ownership. In October 2019, numerous MIP enhancements
were introduced to make completed residential property
purchases more accessible to homebuyers with immediate
housing needs. Demand for the MIP remained steady in
2019 and the total amount of MIP mortgage loans drawn
down was HK$33.3 billion (2018: HK$32.5 billion).
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Chairman’s Statement

Continuing Support for Small and Medium
Enterprises

Hong Kong is home to about 340,000 small and medium
enterprises (SMES). The HKSAR Government continues its
support for SME bank financing with the 80% guarantee
product of the SME Financing Guarantee Scheme (SFGS)
under the entrusted operation of the Group to enable SMEs
to improve liquidity, grasp economic opportunities and
boost competitiveness.

As part of its successive relief packages for SMEs to tide
over the economic downturn, the HKSAR Government
extended in the second half of the year the offering period
for the 80% guarantee product to 2022. At the same time,
the HKSAR Government also commissioned the Group to
timely roll out more enhancements to the 80% guarantee
product such as offering principal moratorium, and a new
90% guarantee product with a guarantee commitment of
HK$33 billion. The new product aims to assist smaller-sized
enterprises and businesses with relatively less operating
experience to obtain financing, and has been receiving
positive response since its launch in December 2019.

The Group maintains close communication with participating
banks, SME associations as well as commerce and industry
chambers to help address the evolving needs of SMEs in
financial difficulties. As at year-end, the Group has approved
more than 17,300 applications for a total loan amount of
HK$72.3 billion, and more than 9,500 local SMEs with more
than 242,000 employees have benefitted from the SFGS.

As a further step to ease the cash flow problems of
enterprises adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic,
and in the light of the pandemic’s prolonged adverse
impact on the local economy, a concessionary low-interest
loan product under the SFGS, for which the Government
provides 100% loan guarantee commitment for approved
loans up to HK$50 billion, was launched in April 2020;
and further enhancements would be made to the 80%
and 90% guarantee products, including the provision of
interest subsidy and extending the coverage to publicly
listed companies in Hong Kong, thereby benefitting more
enterprises affected by the pandemic.

Promoting Development of Retirement
Planning Market

In furtherance of its core mission to promote the
development of the retirement planning market in Hong
Kong, the Group launched the “HKMC Retirement Solutions”
in 2019 as a holistic brand with unique characteristics to
address the retirement planning needs of the community.

The Reverse Mortgage Programme (RMP) and the Policy
Reverse Mortgage Programme (PRMP) launched in 2011
and 2019 respectively form two of the three products under
the "HKMC Retirement Solutions” umbrella. Both of them
aim to provide retirees with new financial planning options
to secure a stream of steady cash flow on retirement
with illiquid assets as collateral (properties in the case
of the RMP and death benefits of life policies in the case
of the PRMP). With the successful implementation of the
Group's ongoing and focused educational initiatives, market
receptiveness to the RMP and PRMP has been growing
progressively.

The HKMC Annuity Plan (Plan) launched in mid-2018 is
the third product under the "HKMC Retirement Solutions”
umbrella. The Plan aims to facilitate retirement planning
and promote the development of the local annuity market
through the provision of annuity products. The Plan helps
the elderly turn their lump sum cash into a stream of fixed
monthly income for life. During the year, the Plan underwent
ongoing enhancements to meet customers’ growing needs.
The Group also stepped up its promotional and educational
efforts which have successfully raised public awareness
of longevity risk management and the importance of
retirement financial planning, thereby contributing to the
rapid development of the local annuity market. In 2019,
the Plan recorded a noticeable growth of HK$1.6 billion
in premium receipts, reaching an accumulated premium
receipt amount of HK$4.4 billion since its launch.

All three products under the "HKMC Retirement Solutions”
brand name share the same characteristics of immediacy,
stability and lifelong entitlement which are rare on the
market and provide useful financial alternatives for
retirement planning purposes.
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Development of Infrastructure Financing
and Securitisation Business

In 2019, the Group developed a new business in infrastructure
financing and securitisation based on prudent commercial
principles and under a robust risk management framework.
The Group will explore securitisation opportunities after
building up an infrastructure loan portfolio and the necessary
market experience. Leveraging its strong credit standing and
medium-to-long term funding capability, the Group will be
able to further its mandates of promoting the stability of the
banking sector and the development of the local debt market
by facilitating infrastructure investment and financing flows
under the new business.

Financial Performance for 2019

Profit attributable to shareholder increased to HK$317
million (2018: HK$127 million) despite that additional
resources were utilised for the Group’s core missions and
certain policy initiatives of the HKSAR Government, and that
the Group's annuity business development continued to
record an accounting loss as a result of maintaining prudent
statutory reserves. Notwithstanding its reported accounting
loss, the embedded value of the annuity business was
about HK$5.3 billion, indicating that the business should be
profitable in the long term.

The capital adequacy ratio stood solid at 30.2% (2018:
26.8%) to preserve capital for business development. The
respective solvency ratios of the Group’s two insurance
subsidiaries were about 39 times (2018: 42 times) for the
general insurance business and 22 times (2018: 34 times)
for the annuity business, both well above the relevant
minimum regulatory requirements.

Outlook for 2020

The global economic environment is extremely austere
in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic and a host of other
challenges such as international trade tensions and
geopolitical risks. Against this backdrop, the global financial
markets may continue to exhibit huge volatility in the period
ahead. The recuperation of both the global economy and
the Hong Kong economy will hinge critically on the effective
control of the pandemic. To ride out difficulties ahead with
the community, the Group will continue with its multi-
faceted businesses to deliver on its core missions.

Finally, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to
fellow Board Directors, the Management and staff for their
dedicated work and tremendous support.

<

ey

Chan Mo-po, Paul
Chairman
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Organisation Structure

HKMC Annuity Limited

Long Term Insurance Business

The Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited

HKMC Insurance Limited

General Insurance Business
Asset Purchase and Debt Issuance

HKMC Mortgage
Management Limited

Loan Purchase, Origination and Servicing
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Organisation Structure

8

HKMC Board

Board Committee

Audit
Committee

T
Executive Director Committee

Corporate Risk
Management
Committee

Infrastructure

Financing and

Securitisation
Investment
Committee

Management Committee

Asset and
Liability
Committee

Credit
Committee

Transaction
Approval
Committee

Operational
Risk
Committee

Longevity
Risk
Committee

IT Steering
Committee

Executive Director
and Chief Executive
Offcer

Mr Raymond LI, »

Vice President
(Marketing and
Business Development)
Ms Angela LEUNG

Vice President
(Operations 1)
Ms Irene MOK

Vice President
(Operations 2)
Mr Joseph SETO

Senior Vice

President
(Operations)

Ms Tess LEUNG 1

Senior Vice
President

(Infrastructure Financing
and Securitisation)

Head of Infrastructure Risk
Infrastructure Financing
and Securitisation
Mr Francis OR

Co-Head of
Infrastructure Investment
Infrastructure Financing
and Securitisation
Mr Calvin TAN

Co-Head of Infrastructure
Investment
Infrastructure Financing
and Securitisation
Ms Susanna WONG

Vice President
(Loan Administration)
Infrastructure Financing
and Securitisation
Mr Maurice YIP

Mr Mike CHENG

Senior Vice

President
(Finance)

Mr Raymond LIU

Vice President
(Information Technology)
Mr Alex LUK

Financial Controller
(Financial Control)
Mr Tim PANG

Treasurer
(Treasury)
Mr Calvin TAM

Senior Vice
President
(Risk)

Mr Desmond CHENG

Vice President
(Pricing and Quantitative Risk)
Mr Mickey CHAN

Vice President
(Information Risk Management)
Mr Alan WU
(from 8 October 2019)

Vice President
(Risk Management)
Ms Kathleen YEUNG

General Counsel
Ms Feliciana CHEUNG

Counsel
Ms Celia CHAU

Counsel
Ms Grace LEE

Chief Compliance Offcer’
(Counsel)
Mr LIM Merng Phang

Counsel
Ms Ines WEI

Vice President
(Administration and
Human Resources)
Ms Joyce WONG

Reporting to the Chief Executive Officer through the General Counsel

Chief Internal Auditor?
Mr Victor CHIU

Reporting to the Chief Executive Officer on daily administrative function
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HKMCI Board

Board Committee

Audit
Committee

Management Committee

Risk

Executive Director
and Chief Executive

Officer
Ms Tess LEUNG

Committee

Reporting to the Chief Executive Officer on daily administrative function
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Vice President

(Insurance Business
Operations)

Mr Maurice YIP

Vice President

(SME Financing Guarantee
Scheme Operations)

Ms Irene MOK

Internal Audit’
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Organisation Structure

HKMCA Board

Board Committee Board Committee

Audit
Committee

Risk
Committee

Executive Director
and Chief Executive
Officer

Management Committee

Risk
Management
Management Tegam

Committee

Internal

Audit’

1 Reporting to the Chief Executive Officer on daily administrative function

10 The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited Annual Report 2019



Board of
Directors




Board of Directors

The Hon. Paul CHAN Mo-po, GBM, GBS, MH, JP
Chairman and Executive Director
Financial Secretary

Mr Eddie YUE Wai-man, Jp Mr Norman T. L. CHAN, 6Bs, JP
Deputy Chairman and Executive Director Deputy Chairman and
(designated as Deputy Chairman on 1 October 2019) Executive Director

Chief Executive (resigned on 1 October 2019)

Hong Kong Monetary Authority
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Mr Howard LEE Tat-chi, Jp
Executive Director

Deputy Chief Executive

Hong Kong Monetary Authority
(appointed on 1 October 2019)

The Hon. Frank CHAN Fan, Jp
Non-Executive Director
Secretary for Transport and Housing

/\\,

L \E

The Hon. Dennis KWOK Wing-hang
Non-Executive Director

Member of Legislative Council
Barrister-at-law

P \

Mr Raymond LI Ling-cheung, Jp
Executive Director and

Chief Executive Officer

Senior Executive Director

Hong Kong Monetary Authority

The Hon. Jeffrey LAM Kin-fung, 6Bs, Jp
Non-Executive Director

Member of Executive Council
Member of Legislative Council
Managing Director

Forward Winsome Industries Limited

Professor CHAN Ka-keung, GBs, JP
Non-Executive Director

Adjunct Professor

The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology
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The Hon. James Henry LAU Jr., Jp
Non-Executive Director
Secretary for Financial Services
and the Treasury (till 22 April 2020)

The Hon. Horace CHEUNG Kwok-kwan, Jp
Non-Executive Director

Member of Executive Council
Member of Legislative Council
Member of Central and Western
District Council (till 31 December 2019)
Partner, Cheung & Yeung, Solicitors

Ms Anita FUNG Yuen-mei, BBS, JP
Non-Executive Director

Director

Hong Kong Exchanges and

Clearing Limited
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Board of Directors

é

Mr Huen WONG, 8BS, JP Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing Mr Leong CHEUNG

Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director
Principal (Hong Kong Office) Managing Director — Assurance Executive Director,

Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & BDO Limited Charities and Community
Jacobson (appointed on 17 May 2019) The Hong Kong Jockey Club

Professor WONG Yuk-shan, sBs, BBS, JP Mr T. Brian STEVENSON, cBs, JP Mrs Estella S. F. CHIU

Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director
(retired on 17 May 2019) (retired on 17 May 2019) (retired on 17 May 2019)

14 The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited Annual Report 2019






Public
Education § Corporate Social

Responsibility

Community
Engagement

Collaboration with
Business Partners




L o '
() | | . |
k The Hong ch M?ngage Corporation Limited Annual Report 2019 17



Highlights of the Year
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Highlights of the Year
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Highlights of the Year
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Highlights of the Year
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Highlights of the Year
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Highlights of the Year
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Corporate Social Responsibility

In recognition of the Corporation’s contribution to the
community and its commitment to corporate social
responsibility (CSR), the Corporation has been awarded
the Caring Organisation Logo by the Hong Kong Council of
Social Service since 2008 and has now entered its 12th year
of CSR participation. Since 2014, the Corporation has also
been receiving the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority’s Good MPF Employer Award, which is given in
appreciation of employers who place a high value on their
employees’ retirement needs. As a socially responsible
organisation, the Group cares for its employees and the
community. The Group underlines its commitment to
CSR by caring for its employees’ well-being, participating
in charity activities and implementing environmental
protection measures.

Care for Employees

Staffing and Remuneration

The Group attracts and grooms talent to ensure the efficient
performance of its missions of promoting stability of the
banking sector, wider home ownership, development of
the local debt market and development of the retirement
planning market. Employees are provided with competitive
remuneration packages and fringe benefits, promising
career paths and development opportunities, and a healthy
and safe working environment. The Group also adopts
family-friendly practices by offering a five-day week to
help employees maintain a good work-life balance, as well
as comprehensive medical and dental insurance plans
that cover both employees and their family members.
Through system automation and process re-engineering,
the Group maintains a lean and efficient workforce despite
an increase in the scope of operations and the complexity
of the products it offers. In 2019, the permanent staff
establishment of the Group was 327 and the staff turnover
rate was 9.37%.

The Art of Mindful Living Workshop
30  The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited Annual Report 2019

Training and Development

The Group recognises the importance of ongoing training
and devotes considerable resources to the continuous
enhancement of its employees’ professional knowledge
and skills. In 2019, the Group arranged programmes and
workshops to help employees enhance their product
knowledge and strengthen their managerial and technical
competence and soft skills.

The in-house training workshops in 2019 covered a wide
range of topics, such as recruitment and selection processes,
team collaboration, mindfulness, and occupational safety and
health. During the year, seminars on anti-money laundering,
anti-corruption and bribery laws and cyber security were
held as well.




The Group also sponsored employees for external job-
related training and development courses covering a
wide range of topics, including mortgage-related issues,
risk management, corporate governance, finance and
accounting, information technology and leadership
training. In addition, all new employees were put through
an induction session to provide them with foundational
knowledge about the Group’s organisational structure,
functions and policies.

Employee Relations and Staff Activities

To promote a healthy work-life balance and foster a s .
family-friendly working environment, the Group’s Staff —_—
Club organises activities regularly to cultivate better
relationships and communication among employees.
In 2019, these activities included health talks, outings and
other staff gatherings, all of which were well received by
employees and their families. The in-house staff publication,
HKMConnection, recaps snapshots of the Group's staff
activities.

House Competition

To facilitate effective communication within the Group,
the Staff Homepage intranet facility is updated frequently
so that useful information can be shared among different
departments. There is also the Staff Suggestion Scheme,
which encourages staff to suggest improvements in the
workflow and workplace.

Starry Night Lamp Workshop
Night Squid Fishing Tour
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Health and Safety

As a caring organisation, the Group is dedicated to looking
after employees’ physical and mental health. An Employee
Support Programme is in place to provide confidential
external counselling services to employees and their family
members, if needed. A vaccination programme for the
prevention of influenza and health-check programmes at
privileged rates were also offered to employees in 2019.

From time to time, the Group reviews and strengthens its
contingency plans, which aim to minimise any unexpected
or sudden disruption to business operations due to,
for example, an outbreak of communicable disease
among employees. Periodic drills are organised to
ensure employees are conversant with the activation of
back-up facilities, contingency plans and communication
arrangements in case of emergency.

Health Talk on Chinese Medicine Theory

Care for the Community

Charities and Social Activities

The Group promotes various charitable and community
functions, such as fundraising events, donation campaigns
and voluntary services. Employees are encouraged to
support charity activities and join voluntary work organised
by the Group's volunteer team, Caring League.

In 2019, the Group organised donation campaigns, such as
Dress Casual Day 2019 for the Community Chest, and held
its annual Blood Donation Day event for the Hong Kong Red
Cross.

Employees have been keen to participate in the voluntary
services, demonstrating their concern for the needy by
dedicating time and effort to the various causes. The
Caring League has partnered with several social service
organisations to take part in a number of voluntary services,
including the following:

Dress Causal Day
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o care for the environment: a recycling campaign is
conducted in partnership with The Salvation Army to
collect books, stationery and toys

o care for the elderly: organised by HOPE Worldwide
and the Hong Kong Playground Association, employee
volunteers of the Group visit elderly people, bring
them “lucky bags” with daily necessities to welcome
the Chinese New Year and accompany elderly
members of low-income families on tours around the
Tsz Shan Monastery.

Outing to Tsz Shan Monastery with the Elderly

Internship and Manager Trainee Programmes

To help nurture talent for the future, the Group offers
internship programmes for undergraduates to give them
a taste of the real business world and help them better
prepare for their future careers. The students who joined
the programmes appreciated the learning experience and
work opportunities they were exposed to.

During the year, the Group continued to carry out the
Manager Trainee Programme with the objective of
identifying high-calibre young executives for grooming
to meet the Group’s long-term staff development plan.
Throughout the three-year programme, the Manager
Trainees will undergo on-the-job training in different
departments, take part in corporate projects and attend
structured learning and development programmes.

Environmental Protection

The Group continuously supports and implements various
green measures to create a more environmentally friendly
office and raise employees’ awareness of methods of
waste reduction and energy conservation. Employees are
encouraged to adopt paperless working practices by using
more electronic communication. They are also encouraged
to collect waste paper and used toner cartridges for
recycling. Since 2006, the Group has adopted various
measures, including better control of office temperature and
the use of LED lighting, in the interest of energy efficiency.
The Group welcomes suggestions from employees on green
office ideas and encourages its suppliers to use and offer
more environmentally friendly products whenever possible.
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Business Review

Performance Highlights

The major achievements of the Group for the year included:

helping homebuyers borrow a total of HK$33.3 billion
in mortgage loans through the Mortgage Insurance
Programme (MIP)

approving 3,740 applications since the launch of the
Reverse Mortgage Programme (RMP) in July 2011,
with an average property value of around HK$5.4 million

issuing a total of 7,610 policies since the launch of the
HKMC Annuity Plan in July 2018, with total premiums
received at around HK$4.4 billion and the average
premium amount at around HK$570,000 as at the end
of 2019

further extending to end-June 2022 the application
period for the 80% guarantee product and the three
enhancement measures introduced in November
2018 under the SME Financing Guarantee Scheme
(SFGS), to further alleviate the financing burden of
local small and medium-sized enterprises (SMES)

introducing a new relief measure in September
2019 in the form of principal moratorium which is
applicable to both existing and new SME borrowers
under the SFGS, to provide immediate support to
SMEs amidst the economic uncertainties

launching a new 90% guarantee product under the
SFGS in December 2019, to provide smaller-sized
enterprises and businesses that have relatively less
operating experience with additional support in
obtaining financing

approving more than 17,200 applications for loans
amounting to HK$72.3 billion since the launch of the
80% SFGS in 2012. More than 9,500 local SMEs and
242,100 related employees have benefited under the
SFGS. For the new 90% SFGS, the Group had received
23 applications for loans amounting to HK$48.1 million
since its launch in December 2019

o approving loans totalling HK$55.5 million under the
Microfinance Scheme (MFS) since its inception in
June 2012, to support business start-ups, self-
employed people from different backgrounds and
professions, and those wanting to achieve self-
improvement through education and training

. being on track in executing the first-year
implementation plan of the Group's Infrastructure
Financing and Securitisation (IFS) business to
accumulate infrastructure loan assets and develop
the IFS brand of the Group

o purchasing about HK$2 million of loan assets

J issuing HK$17.7 billion of debt securities, with a
maturity of one year or above, in a cost-effective
manner, thus promoting the development of the local
debt market and maintaining the Group's position as
one of the most active issuers in Hong Kong. These
debt securities included 30-year bonds totalling
HK$1.2 billion, issued to support fixed-rate businesses

o maintaining the Group's long-term foreign and local
currency ratings of AA+ by S&P Global Ratings (S&P)
and Aa2 by Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc. (Moody'’s)
as at end-2019, same as the HKSAR Government.

o safeguarding excellent credit quality, with non-
performing loan ratio of 0.07% across all asset classes
and over-90-day delinguency ratios of 0.003% for the
mortgage insurance portfolio and 0.02% for the Hong
Kong residential mortgage portfolio (lower than the
industry average of 0.03%) as at 31 December 2019.

The Group maintained a solid financial position in 2019:

o profit attributable to shareholder of HK$317 million

o net interest margin of 1%

o return on shareholder’s equity of 2.1%

J cost-to-income ratio of 58.7%

o capital adequacy ratio of 30.2%, which is well above
the minimum requirement of 8% stipulated by the
Financial Secretary

o solvency ratios of 39 times for general insurance
business and 22 times for annuity business, well above

the respective 200% and 150% minimum regulatory
requirements stipulated by the Insurance Authority
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Business Review

Market Overview

General Economic Conditions

The global economy was in a synchronised slowdown in
2019 as rising US-China trade barriers, the Brexit process
and other geopolitical tensions contributed to heightened
uncertainties. Economic growth of the US moderated and
the economy of the euro area stayed weak. Mainland
China’s economy remained largely resilient but still faced
downward pressures. In light of the heightened global
market volatility, many central banks have taken measures
to ease their monetary policies to reduce downside risks to
growth. The Hong Kong economy also showed significant
slowdown in the second half of the year, as the local social
incidents caused disruptions to domestic consumption
and tourism-related activities, resulting in a blow to the
economy which had been adversely affected by the
slackening global demand and international trade tensions.
Against this backdrop, the Hong Kong economy contracted
by 1.2% in 2019 from a year earlier, marking the first annual
decline since 2009.

Property Market

The residential property market registered a strong rebound
in the first five months of the year, and then softened
somewhat starting from June. Between January and
May, housing transactions surged with improved market
sentiment, and flat prices recovered fully from losses
recorded in the second half of 2018. Since June, however,
transaction volumes and housing prices have levelled off.
The outlook for the residential property market has become
more uncertain. Other risk factors, including the US-China
trade conflict and slowing global economic growth, may
weigh on housing market sentiment in the near term.
Overall, the number of residential property transactions in
2019 increased by 4.5% year on year to 59,797, while the
consideration of transactions recorded a 1.9% year-on-year
decrease (Figure 1).

Figure 1
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Transaction volumes in the primary and secondary markets
rose steadily from the start of the year until July, after which
a downward trend was recorded. In general, residential
property prices' recorded a 5.3% cumulative increase in
2019, compared with a 1.9% increase in 2018 (Figure 2).

Figure 2
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Mortgage Market

Overall, the mortgage rate in Hong Kong stayed low in
2019. The Best Lending Rates (BLRS) were in the range of
5.125% and 5.5% in the first 10 months of the year. In view
of some leading banks lowering their BLRS to 5% in early
November 2019, the BLRs remained in the range of 5% and
5.5% since then until the end of December 2019. The Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR) was relatively higher
throughout the year. According to the Monthly Statistics
Bulletin of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (HKMA),
the one-month HIBOR in terms of period average? moved
within the range of 1% and 2.57% during the year. Mortgage
lending recorded steady growth, with the total outstanding
value of all residential mortgage loans rising moderately by
10.3% to HK$1,512.8 hillion. The gross value of new loans
drawn down?® decreased slightly by 0.6% year on year in
2019, compared with a rise of 9.9% in 2018 (Figure 3).

Figure 3

New Residential Mortgage Loans Drawn Down
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HIBOR-based mortgages appeared to be more receptive
to borrowers for much of the year. As at December 2019,
77.1% of new mortgage loans were benchmarked against
the HIBOR. The proportion of BLR-based mortgages was
high at 48% in January 2019 but started to consolidate
since then. As at December 2019, BLR-based mortgages
accounted for only 19.8% of the market share; whereas
fixed-rate plans had no share in the mortgage loan market
throughout 2019 (Figure 4).

Figure 4
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Business Review

Under the HKMA’s prudent supervision of the mortgage
lending sector, the asset quality of residential mortgage
loans remained excellent in 2019. The over-90-day
delinguency ratio of mortgage loans stayed at the range of
0.02-0.03% throughout the year, reflecting banks’ prudent
underwriting standards. The combined ratio, which takes
into account both delinquent and rescheduled loans, also
maintained at a low level at 0.02-0.03% during the same
period (Figure 5). The estimated number of residential
mortgage loans in negative equity as at end-December 2019
was 128 cases, with an aggregate value of HK$764 million
recorded®.

Figure 5
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Banking-sector Exposure

The total outstanding value of mortgage loans for private
residential properties increased to HK$1,434.8 billion at the
end of 2019 (end-2018: HK$1,313.8 billion), accounting for
one-fifth of the total loans in Hong Kong (Figure 6). When
these mortgage loans are added to the lending for building
and construction, along with property development and
investment, the value of property-related loans totalled
HK$3,066.53 billion, representing about 42.2% of banks’
total loan books. The outstanding value of mortgage loans
for the purchase of flats in the Home Ownership Scheme,
Private Sector Participation Scheme and Tenants Purchase
Scheme increased to HK$78.03 billion at the end of 2019
(end-2018: HK$58.38 billion).

Figure 6
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Asset Acquisition

While the ample liquidity in the market has led to a weak
incentive for banks to offload their assets, the Group is
prepared to provide liquidity to the market as and when
required. In 2019, the Group acquired about HK$2 million of
loan assets.

Funding

In 2019, the global economy entered a synchronised
slowdown with heightened uncertainties amid periodic
escalation of US-China trade tensions, geopolitical
developments and the accommodative monetary policies
of major central banks. The Hong Kong economy was
also adversely affected by the global economic slowdown
and local social incidents. Despite the challenging market
conditions, the Group managed to secure prudent pre-
funding for loan purchases and refinancing activities. Given
the Group's strong background as a wholly government-
owned entity and its solid credit ratings, the Group raised
debt totalling HK$17.7 billion, with a maturity of one year
or above, in 2019. At the end of the year, the Group’s total
outstanding debt amounted to HK$39.7 billion.

The Group is committed to developing the local debt market
through regular debt issuances and the introduction of new
debt products. Being one of the most active bond issuers
in Hong Kong, the Group will continue to issue debt in both
the local institutional and retail markets, and diversify its
funding sources and investor base to overseas institutional
markets. This will not only help broaden the Group'’s funding
base, but also provide institutional and retail investors
with high-quality debt instruments to satisfy their need for
portfolio diversification and yield enhancement.

The Group has three debt issuance programmes that allow
the issuance of debt securities in an efficient and effective
manner. With its strong credit rating, the Group’s debt
issues are well received by the investment community,
such as pension funds, insurance companies, investment
funds, charities, government-related funds and retail
investors. The Group undertakes regular and proactive
investor communication to meet and update investors.

Medium Term Note Programme

The Group established the multi-currency Medium Term
Note (MTN) Programme in June 2007 to broaden its investor
base and funding sources in the international market. It was
set up with an initial size of US$3 billion, which was doubled
to US$6 billion in July 2011 to meet growing demand from
overseas investors. The multi-currency feature of the
programme enables the Group to issue notes in different
major currencies, including the Hong Kong dollar, US dollar,
renminbi, Australian dollar, British pound, euro, Japanese
yen and Singapore dollar, to meet demand from both local
and overseas investors. All foreign currency-denominated
MTNS are fully hedged into either the US dollar or the Hong
Kong dollar. The programme incorporates flexible product
features and offering mechanisms for public issuances
and private placements to increase its appeal to investors
with different investment horizons and requirements. An
extensive dealer group comprising major international and
regional financial institutions is appointed to support future
MTN issuance and provide secondary market liquidity.

In 2019, the Group launched 36 MTN private debt issues
totalling an equivalent of HK$17.7 billion, with a maturity
of one year or above. These debt issues included 30-
year bonds totalling HK$1.2 billion to support fixed-rate
businesses.

Debt Issuance Programme

The Debt Issuance Programme (DIP) was established in
July 1998 targeting institutional investors in the Hong Kong
dollar debt market. It was set up with an initial programme
size of HK$20 billion, which was doubled to HK$40 billion in
2003. The DIP provides a flexible and efficient platform for
the Group to issue debt and transferable loan certificates
with a tenor of up to 15 years. Primary dealers and selling
group members are appointed under the DIP to provide
wide distribution channels for both public and private debt
issues.
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Retail Bond Issuance Programme

Dedicated to the promotion of the retail bond market in
Hong Kong, the Group pioneered a new offering mechanism
in November 2001 and established the HK$20 billion Retail
Bond Issuance Programme in May 2004. Since 2001, the
Group has issued retail bonds totalling HK$13.7 billion.
When the market environment is conducive, the Group
aims to issue retail bonds regularly to provide an additional
investment tool for Hong Kong's retail investors.

Revolving Credit Facility Provided by the Exchange

Fund

In January 1998, during the Asian Financial Crisis, the
Exchange Fund extended a HK$10 billion Revolving
Credit Facility to the Group. This Facility has enabled the
Group to maintain smooth operation under exceptional
circumstances so that it can better fulfil its mission to
promote banking and financial stability in Hong Kong.
While the Group obtains long-term funding from local
and international debt markets to finance its operations,
the Facility gives the Group an important liquidity
fallback. Following the outbreak of the global financial
crisis in 2008, the size of the Facility was increased to
HK$30 billion in December that year, demonstrating the
HKSAR Government's recognition of the importance of, and
further support for, the Group. The Revolving Credit Facility
was used by the Group during times of market stress in
1998 and 2008 to partially fund the acquisition of Hong Kong
residential mortgage assets from local banks. In both cases,
the loans drawn under the Facility were fully repaid with
funds raised from the Group's cost-effective debt issuance
when the markets stabilised. There was no drawdown
under the Facility in 2019.

Credit Rating

The Group’s ability to attract investment in its debt
securities is underpinned by its strong credit ratings,
which are equivalent to those of the HKSAR Government,
according to S&P and Moody's.

Credit Ratings of the HKMC

S&P Moody's
Short-term  Long-term  Short-term  Long-term
Local Currency A1+ AA+ P-1 Aa3
Foreign Currency A1+ AA+ P-1 Aa3
Outlook Stable Stable
(as at 21 January 2020)

On 21 January 2020, Moody's revised the Group’s long-term
ratings to Aa3 from Aa2 following the same rating action on
the HKSAR Government.

The credit rating agencies have made favourable
assessment on the Group's credit standing. The following
comments are extracts from the credit rating reports
of S&P and Moody’s in August 2019 and February 2020
respectively:

S&P

“We equalise our ratings on HKMC with the ratings on
Hong Kong, the corporation’s sole ultimate owner. This
reflects our view of an almost certain likelihood of timely
and sufficient extraordinary support from the Hong Kong
government in the event that HKMC needs it... We believe
HKMC's undertaking of additional policy initiatives over the
past several years has a solidifying effect on its ties with
the Hong Kong government, and reinforces the integral link
between the two entities.”

"HKMC has a well-established market position with a
unigue role to address local Hong Kong banks” liquidity and
balance-sheet management needs by purchasing mortgage
and loan portfolios, especially in times of stress... A variety
of stressful market conditions have tested HKMC's business
model. For example, when global financial markets and
the local economy were under stress in late 2008 and early
2009, HKMC enlarged its mortgage acquisitions in response
to banks' requests, and enhanced its mortgage insurance
program. However, it has tightened the eligibility criteria
for its mortgage insurance program in recent years, in
response to elevated property prices.”
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“We believe that HKMC benefits from the presence and
effective oversight of its vastly experienced and competent
set of members as directors on its board. The management
team is capable, effective, and experienced, in our view.
HKMC's strategic positioning is clear and consistent with
its capability and market conditions. The company has
always operated within its financial and risk management
standards, which we consider to be rigorous and clear.”

“We expect HKMC to manage its funding and liquidity with
reasonable prudence. It has very strong debt capital market
access through its three senior debt programs although it
lacks customer deposits. We expect HKMC to maintain a
healthy buffer of highly liquid assets, which is more than
sufficient to cover its short-term funding needs... Further, a
HK$30 billion revolving credit facility more than adequately
covers all liabilities of HKMC maturing within the next year
and provides a significant cushion against any unexpected
liquidity stress.”

Moody’s

“HKMC is fully owned by the Hong Kong government
through the Exchange Fund. The company carries out
policy mandates, which include the promotion of financial
and banking stability in Hong Kong; homeownership and
the development of the local debt capital market and
retirement planning market through the purchase of
mortgages from commercial banks and through its general
insurance subsidiary the provision of mortgage insurance
and reverse mortgages. As part of its mandate to promote
banking stability, the company acts as an alternative lender
of last resort by standing ready to purchase residential
mortgages from banks during times of stress... The
company established its annuity subsidiary in 2017 and
launched its annuity product in 2018. The company started
acquiring infrastructure loans from 2019.”

“The government, through the Exchange Fund, provides
HKMC with a HK$30 billion revolving credit facility and
additional equity capital when necessary. If the company’s
credit profile is weakened in a stress scenario, we expect
the government to provide timely extraordinary support.
The company’s public policy mandates are closely aligned
with the government'’s objectives, and its close relationship
with the government increases the likelihood of future
government support. The government has provided the
company with a HK$5 billion capital injection to set up the
annuities business and is prepared to provide more if the
business continues to expand.”

“The company has maintained very sound asset-quality
metrics since its establishment... Hong Kong's residential
mortgages have historically performed very well through
economic cycles. Even when property prices declined by
up to 70% between 1997 and 2003, the company’s overall
mortgage delinquencies never exceeded 2.0%. The current
average loan-to-value ratio of the company’s Hong Kong
mortgages is below 40%."”

“As a wholesale-funded entity with no customer deposits,
HKMC relies on the ongoing access to the debt capital
market to fund its operations. Nevertheless, the company
has a policy of pre-funding its expected asset purchases
and maintains a very strong liquidity during normal
economic conditions. The company has very good access to
capital markets because of its strong financial fundamentals
and government affiliation... The company had sufficient
liquid assets, including the government facility, to repay all
of its outstanding debt as of the end of June 2019.”
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Mortgage-backed Securitisation

The Group strives to promote the development of the
mortgage-backed securities (MBS) market in Hong Kong.
MBS is an effective financial instrument that can channel
long-term funding from the debt market to supplement the
need for long-term financing generated by mortgage loans.
Banks and financial institutions can make use of MBS to
manage risks inherent in mortgage loans, such as credit
risks, liquidity risks, interest rate risks and asset-liability
maturity mismatch risks. A deep and liquid MBS market can
help enhance the development of an efficient secondary
mortgage market and further promote Hong Kong as an
international financial centre.

The Group has issued a total of HK$13.2 billion MBS
since 1999. The US$3 billion Bauhinia Mortgage-Backed
Securitisation Programme was established in 2001 to
provide a convenient, flexible and cost-efficient platform
for the Group to issue MBS with various product structures,
credit enhancements and distribution methods.

Infrastructure Financing and Securitisation

Amid an enormous and widening funding gap in the
international infrastructure financing market, the Group
launched the Infrastructure Financing and Securitisation
(IFS) business in 2019 to accumulate infrastructure loan
assets and develop the IFS brand of the Group.

In the early stage, the Group purchases and accumulates
infrastructure loans from commercial banks, as well
as co-finances infrastructure projects with multilateral
development banks and commercial banks.

To consolidate such collaborations of the Group with
market players, the Group successfully executed the Master
Cooperation Agreement with the International Finance
Corporation and the Memorandum of Understanding with
China Export & Credit Insurance Corporation (Sinosure) in
2019.

The Group will continue to participate in a step-by-
step manner in the infrastructure financing market on
commercially viable and financially sustainable terms,
by making use of its comparative advantages in terms of
strong credit standing and medium-to-long term funding
capability while observing prudent commercial principles
and risk management policies. It will explore securitisation
opportunities after building up the infrastructure loan
portfolio and necessary experience.

The IFS business will enable the Group to advance its
mandates of promoting development of the local debt
market and stability of the banking sector, while at the
same time fill the infrastructure financing market gaps and
foster market development.
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Mortgage Insurance Programme

The Mortgage Insurance Programme (MIP) helps potential
homebuyers who have limited resources for substantial
down payment for the purchase of a property. From a
banking industry perspective, the MIP allows banks to
engage in higher loan-to-value (LTV) lending without
incurring additional credit risk and jeopardising the stability
of the banking system. The MIP creates a win-win situation
for both homebuyers and banks.

Over the years, the MIP has been established firmly as an
integral part of mortgage financing in Hong Kong. Demand
for the MIP remained steady in 2019, and the volume
of loans drawn down under the MIP increased slightly
to HK$33.3 billion in 2019 from HK$32.5 billion in 2018
(Figure 7). About 73% of the MIP loans drawn, in terms of
loan amount, were secured on properties in the secondary
market. This demonstrates the importance of the MIP to
homebuyers in the secondary market.

Figure 7

Mortgage Loan Amount Drawn Down under HKMC MIP
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During the year, the Group joined participating banks to
stimulate interest in the MIP. Since 1999, the MIP has
helped more than 149,000 families achieve their dream
of home ownership, with an aggregate loan drawdown of
HK$401 billion.

Since its establishment in 1997, the Group has been
committed to promoting wider home ownership as one of
its missions. In order to provide assistance to homebuyers
with immediate housing needs, the Group introduced on
16 October 2019 the following amendments to the MIP for
completed residential properties:

(@ the maximum property value eligible for mortgage
loans that offer an LTV ratio of up to 80% is
HK$10 million;

(b)  for mortgage loans that offer an LTV ratio of up to
90% and are applicable to first-time homebuyers, the
maximum property value is HK$8 million;

(c) for homebuyers taking out mortgage loans on
properties whose values exceed the existing caps,
that is, HK$6 million for mortgage loans with an LTV
ratio of up to 80% and HK$4 million for mortgage
loans with an LTV ratio of up to 90%, an additional
15% premium will be charged; and

(d)  the maximum debt-to-income (DTI) ratio for both the
above-mentioned and existing MIP loans will be set
at 50%, and borrowers have to meet the stressed
DTI ratio. First-time homebuyers will still be eligible
for MIP loans of up to 80% or 90% in LTV ratio even if
they cannot meet the stressed test DTI ratio, subject
to an additional adjustment to the premium based on
relevant risk factors.
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HKMC Retirement Solutions

In line with its long-standing efforts to promote the
development of the retirement planning market, the
Group launched its corporate brand "HKMC Retirement
Solutions” in May 2019, under which its retirement planning
products, namely the Reverse Mortgage Programme, Policy
Reverse Mortgage Programme and HKMC Annuity Plan, are
promoted collectively as a holistic solution to retirement
planning. Since the launch, public awareness of retirement
planning has been on the rise as the Group focuses its
promotion initiatives on not only the financial aspect but
also the overall well-being of retirees.

The Group continued to promote the importance of
retirement planning across different strata of the society
through multiple channels, including public seminars,
roving exhibitions, educational videos, publication and
printed materials etc. In recognition of its contribution
to the development and improvement of the overall
financial literacy in Hong Kong, the Group was awarded
Financial Education Champion by the Investor and Financial
Education Council in both the first and second years of the
award. Looking forward, the Group will continue to explore
collaboration opportunities with different stakeholders
to further promote financial literacy and maximise the
impacts of public education across different sectors in the
community.

To celebrate the launch of the "HKMC Retirement
Solutions”, a Signature Event was held on 8 May 2019
to announce its official inauguration, followed by an
educational campaign conducted throughout the year.
During the two-day Signature Event, a mini-expo was staged
with educational booths and public seminars hosted by
different stakeholders of the retirement community, such
as The Hong Kong Housing Society, The Hong Kong Jockey
Club and Tung Wah Group of Hospitals. All of the public
seminars were well attended and the booths successfully
engaged hordes of visitors from the community. The
rationale behind the Signature Event was to provide retirees
with a holistic solution to retirement planning covering
different aspects of retirement life. The Signature Event was

a great success, bringing together key stakeholders in the
retirement community, as well as banks, non-governmental
organisations (NGOs), social enterprises and professionals
across different sectors to join hands with the Group
in raising public awareness of the importance of early
retirement planning.

As part of the Group'’s brand-building strategy, the “HKMC
YouTube Channel” was launched in January 2019, providing
a platform to interact with the public by sharing videos of
the Group’s different products as well as its first corporate
video, entitled “New Idea”, and a video on the "HKMC
Retirement Solutions”. Also published on the "HKMC
YouTube Channel” are videos of the Signature Event, which
feature the launch ceremony and various talks hosted by
different stakeholders. The Group will continue to make
use of this platform to communicate with the retirement
community and the general public.

The Group also leveraged on other means to spread the
message of the “HKMC Retirement Solutions”. In particular,
media interviews were lined up to enhance the reach of the
"HKMC Retirement Solutions”. The Group has also produced
educational articles on different topics of retirement
planning and circulated these articles to stakeholders for
publication on their websites and social media platforms,
with the aim of enhancing the financial literacy of the
general public and educating them on the importance of
starting to plan for their retirement at an early stage.

To facilitate a closer connection between the Group and
its customers, and to create an environment conducive
to improving the effectiveness of the Group’s business
initiatives in the long run, a loyalty programme was
established in 2019. In May of the same year, the Group
extended invitation to existing customers of the "HKMC
Retirement Solutions” to join the programme as members.
Activities of different topics, including health and wellness,
travel and entertainment, sports, and financial planning,
will be organised for members in the form of seminars,
workshops and outdoor events. Through participation in
these activities, it is hoped that the overall well-being of
members could be enhanced and goodwill in favour of the
Group could be generated via members’ interactions, which
would in turn impress upon a wider segment of the target
audience the benefits of the "HKMC Retirement Solutions”
in the long run.
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Reverse Mortgage Programme

The Reverse Mortgage Programme (RMP) aims at providing
retirees with an additional financial planning option to
enhance their quality of life. Under the RMP, borrowers can
use their residential properties in Hong Kong as security
to borrow from a participating bank while remaining as
the owner of their properties. The borrowers will receive
monthly payouts either over a payment term of fixed period
or throughout the rest of their lives, and they may also
borrow lump-sum payouts for specific purposes.

Thanks to the Group’s ongoing efforts in educating the
public on retirement solutions, receptiveness to the
RMP has increased over the years. More and more
people welcome the idea of using the RMP as a financial
instrument to generate a stable stream of monthly income
after retirement. The Group from time to time reviews the
RMP and introduces enhancement features, so as to better
meet the needs of retirees. To this end, the Group has
been soliciting views actively from existing and potential
customers as well as industry practitioners via focus groups
and meetings. Participants are encouraged to share views
in an open setting and have contributed remarkable insights
which are useful for the ongoing development of the RMP.

To reach the target audience at district level, the Group
joined hands with banks and leveraged on their wide
distribution networks in organising an array of roving
exhibitions at the banks’ local branches in various districts
across Hong Kong Island, Kowloon and the New Territories.
The exhibitions featured displays and videos that introduced
the benefits of the RMP. Game booths were set up to
engage visitors and deepen their understanding of the RMP.
Staff members of the Group and representatives of banks
were available on site to address the enquiries of potential
customers. Apart from the exhibitions, the Group also
adopted a “train-the-trainer” approach in its collaborations
with banks and other stakeholders to organise more than
50 public seminars during the year. The public’s response
was positive, with an average attendance of 50 to 100
participants recorded in each seminar. Many people
showed a keen interest and were eager to know how the
RMP could help enhance the quality of their retirement life.

Alongside community-based promotions, advertising
initiatives were undertaken on multiple fronts to reach out
to the mass public. RMP commercials were broadcast on
mainstream television channels via the Announcements in
the Public Interest and at banks' local branches. In addition,
a series of short videos featuring different benefits of the
RMP was produced and has been broadcast on the “HKMC
YouTube Channel” since May 2019.

Policy Reverse Mortgage Programme

To better meet the needs of retirees through an alternative
retirement planning option, the Group conducted a study
on the feasibility of singling out the assignment of a life
insurance policy as the sole collateral of a mortgage loan
and launched a new business initiative, known as the Policy
Reverse Mortgage Programme (PRMP), in May 2019 by
replicating the business model of the RMP.

A policy reverse mortgage is a loan arrangement which
enables borrowers aged 60 or above to use their life
insurance policy as collateral in return for a stable stream of
monthly payouts from a lender. Under the PRMP, borrowers
may opt to receive the monthly payouts over a fixed period
of time or throughout the rest of their lives, and may borrow
lump-sum loans for specific purposes.

In general, the borrowers do not need to repay the policy
reverse mortgage loan during their lifetime unless the loan
is terminated under specific circumstances. When a policy
reverse mortgage becomes due and payable, the lender
will enforce the mortgaged life insurance policy within a
specified timeframe to repay in full the outstanding loan
amount by using the death benefits of the life insurance

policy.

To raise awareness of the PRMP, an advertising campaign
has been rolled out on public transportation and social
media platforms. For example, billboards were placed on
the concourse of selected MTR stations and advertisements
were posted inside MTR train carriages, on bus exteriors
and at the back of bus seats. Online banners were also
published on various social media platforms to reach
a wider public. Besides advertising, community-based
promotions on the PRMP were staged in conjunction with
the RMP so as to achieve synergy effects and engage
broader segments of society.
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HKMC Annuity Plan

HKMC Annuity Limited (HKMCA) was established in June
2017 in response to the Government’s policy initiative
to enhance the quality of the elderly’s retirement. The
missions of the HKMCA are to facilitate the retirement
financial planning of Hong Kong citizens and to promote
the development of the local annuity market. Under the
HKMC Annuity Plan (Plan), the insured will receive a
guaranteed stream of monthly fixed annuity income for as
long as they live. As at end-2019, a total of 7,610 policies
had been issued, involving total premiums of HK$4.4 billion.
The average premium amount per policy was around
HK$570,000.

To further enhance the Plan, the HKMCA relaxed the
maximum premium amount per person to HK$3 million
in May 2019, and also introduced a six-month premium
discount campaign to further promote the Plan.

To fulfil the objective of market development, a publicity
campaign featuring a Hong Kong celebrity, Ms Angelina
Lo Yuen-yen, has been carried out since July 2019 to
promote the concept of life annuity and the need for
longevity risk management. Multiple advertising means,
such as the television, the radio and outdoor and digital
advertisements, were utilised to convey the message to the
target audience. To further reach out to the community,
the HKMCA organised more than 33 public seminars in
2019 and participated in the Golden Age Expo and Summit
2019 as well as the 50+ Expo to educate the public on
the importance of having a balanced financial retirement
portfolio. These efforts have successfully drawn public
attention to annuity products. Following a rapid growth
of 40%, or HK$10.8 billion®, in new premiums for the local
annuity market in 2018, the local annuity market continued
to register strong growth in 2019, with new premiums on
annuity products reaching HK$20.9 billion® for the whole
year.

5 Source: Insurance Authority

Extension of 80% guarantee product under
SME Financing Guarantee Scheme (80% SFGS)

As part of the package of support measures announced
in the 2012-13 Budget for local SMEs to tide them over in
the uncertain global economic environment, the Group
promulgated time-limited special concessionary measures
under the market-based SFGS, providing 80% guarantee on
eligible loan facilities at a substantially lowered guarantee
fee rate (80% SFGS). Backed by the Government’s total
guarantee commitment of up to HK$100 billion, the 80%
SFGS helps SMEs obtain loans for general working capital
or the purchase of equipment or other assets to support
business operations. The Group administers the 80% SFGS
on prudent commercial principles. The guarantee fees are
set aside to pay default claims from participating lenders
and out-of-pocket expenses to be incurred under the
arrangement. A total of 31 Authorized Institutions (Als)
participate in the SFGS as lenders.

In a bid to further alleviate the financing burden of local
SMEs and help them obtain financing, the following three
enhancement measures were launched in November 2018:

1. halving the annual guarantee fee rate;

2. increasing the maximum facility amount from
HK$12 million to HK$15 million; and

3. lengthening the maximum guarantee period from five
years to seven years.

The 80% SFGS was initially open for application over
nine months until 28 February 2013. It was subsequently
extended several times. The application period for the 80%
SFGS and the validity period of the three enhancement
measures introduced in November 2018 were further
extended to end-June 2022.
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In September 2019, a new relief measure was introduced
under the 80% SFGS. It aims to provide immediate support
to SMEs which are facing stronger cash flow pressure
amidst the economic uncertainties. The new relief measure
allows SFGS borrowers to apply for a renewable principal
moratorium of up to six months, subject to a maximum
of 12 months in total. During the period of principal
moratorium, they have to make only the interest payments.
The new measure is applicable to both existing and new
SME borrowers. It took effect on 4 September 2019 and will
last for one year.

The 80% SFGS has been well received by the market. As
at 31 December 2019, the Group had approved more than
17,200 applications for loans amounting to HK$72.3 billion.
More than 9,500 local SMEs and more than 242,100 related
employees have benefited.

Launch of 90% guarantee product under SME
Financing Guarantee Scheme (90% SFGS)

The Financial Secretary announced in August 2019 that
the Government would introduce a new 90% guarantee
product under the SFGS (90% SFGS). Following the
approval of a total guarantee commitment of HK$33 billion
by the Finance Committee of the Legislative Council, the
90% SFGS was launched on 16 December 2019. The 90%
SFGS aims to provide additional support to smaller-sized
enterprises and businesses with relatively less operating
experience to obtain financing. The total loan amount for an
enterprise and its related entity is capped at HK$6 million
for a maximum guarantee period of five years. The same
guarantee fee rate as the existing 80% SFGS is applicable.
The application period of the 90% SFGS will last until
30 June 2022.

As with the 80% Guarantee Product, the guarantee fees are
set aside to pay default claims and related out-of-pocket
EXPenses.

Since the launch of the 90% SFGS in December 2019 and
up to 31 December 2019, the Group had received 23
applications and approved 19 of them, involving a total loan
amount of HK$39.2 million.

Further to the SFGS communication campaign commenced
in 2016, the Group continued to communicate closely with
participating lenders, SME associations and chambers
of commerce and industry. It also shared some success
stories of SMEs to enhance understanding and promote
public awareness of the SFGS.

During the year, the Group arranged regular or tailor-
made training and workshops for lenders’ staff members
and shared business and claim statistics with lenders to
enhance transparency and promote more active use of the
SFGS. The Group also introduced the SFGS in seminars for
SMES to increase public awareness of the SFGS.

Microfinance Scheme

The Group operated the Microfinance Scheme (MFS),
liaising with participating banks and NGOs to offer loans at
an affordable rate and support services to people wanting
to start their own business, become self-employed or
achieve self-enhancement through training, skills upgrading
or professional certification.

The MFS had been operating smoothly since its launch in June
2012. By the end of 2019, the MFS had approved altogether
221 loans with a total loan amount of HK$55.5 million.
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The global economy encountered a synchronised
slowdown in 2019 due to a broad-based deterioration of
global trade, investment, manufacturing activities and
even consumption, amidst uncertainties arising from US-
China trade tensions, Brexit process and other geopolitical
events. Most central banks have taken steps to reverse
the tightening or normalisation stance towards monetary
easing. In Mainland China, economic growth softened
notably from 2018 despite remaining largely resilient.

Hong Kong's economic growth contracted by 2.9% year-on-
year in the third quarterly of 2019, representing an abrupt
deterioration from its mild growth of 0.5% in the first half
of the year. The local social incidents took a heavy toll on
the consumption- and tourism-related sectors, dealing a
very severe blow to an economy already weakened by a
synchronised global economic slowdown and escalated
US-China trade tensions. External demand registered
an enlarged decline in the third quarter, while domestic
demand also worsened significantly. The unemployment
rate edged up to 3.3% in the fourth quarter as the labour
market eased along with the worsening economic
conditions.

Income Statement

Financial Performance

Profit attributable to shareholder increased to HK$317 million
(2018: HK$127 million) (Table 1). The increase in profitability
was primarily attributable to the decrease in accounting
loss as a result of the decrease in provisions for maintaining
prudent statutory reserves based on actuarial assumptions
for the Group’s annuity business along with lower business
intake during the year and the increase in investment
return on the placements with the Exchange Fund.
Notwithstanding that, the increase in profit was partly offset
by additional resources utilised for the Group’s missions
and certain policy initiatives of the HKSAR Government.
Accordingly, return on equity was 2.1% (2018: 0.9%) while
cost-to-income ratio decreased to 58.7% (2018: 86.0%).
Despite the reported accounting loss of annuity business,
the embedded value of the annuity business was about
HK$5.3 billion, indicating that the business should be
profitable in the long term.

The capital adequacy ratio stood solid at 30.2% (2018:
26.8%) SO as to preserve capital for business development.
The respective solvency ratios of the Group’s two insurance
subsidiaries were about 39 times (2018: 42 times) for
general insurance business and 22 times (2018: 34 times)
for annuity business, each well above the relevant minimum
regulatory requirements.

Table 1

Summary of financial performance 2019 2018

HK$ million  HKS million
Operating profit before impairment 337 67
Profit before tax 337 67
Profit attributable to shareholder 317" 127"
Return on shareholder’s equity 2.1%’ 0.9%"
Cost-to-income ratio 58.7%’ 86.0%"
Capital adequacy ratio 30.2% 26.8%

After excluding an accounting loss for maintaining prudent statutory
reserves based on actuarial assumptions for annuity business made by
the HKMC Annuity Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the HKMC, the
adjusted attributable profit to shareholder, return on shareholder’s equity
and cost-to-income ratio for 2019 would be HK$443 million, 4.2% and
41.8% respectively (2018: HK$515 million, 5.1% and 36.7% respectively).

Net Interest Income

The HKMC Group earned a net interest income of HK$524
million, HK$12 million lower than that for 2018. The decrease
was mainly due to the reduction of average mortgage loan
portfolio as a result of loan repayment and prepayment,
partially cushioned by the purchase of infrastructure loans
during the year and increase in other average interest-
earning assets (i.e., cash and debt investments). The net
interest margin was maintained at 1.0% (Table 2).

Table 2
Net Interest Income 2019 2018
HKS$ million  HK$ million
Net interest income 524 536
Average interest-earning assets 53,839 50,972
Net interest margin 1.0% 1.1%
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Net Mortgage Insurance Premium Earned

New business underwritten under the MIP increased slightly
to HK$33.3 billion in 2019 from HK$32.5 billion in 2018. The
net premium receipts (after discount to customers) were
amortised and recognised as income in accordance with
the unexpired risks. Taking into account upfront incentives
to banks, and claims incurred and provision of around
HK$3 million (2018: HK$4 million), the net premium earned
was HK$196 million (2018: HK$222 million).

Net Insurance-related Results for Annuity Business
Net insurance-related results for annuity business (i.e.,
the sum of net premiums earned, net claims incurred,
benefits paid, movement in policyholders’ liabilities, and
commission and levy expenses) recorded a reduced loss of
HK$387 million (2018: HK$550 million) amid the lower new
business intake during the year. The accounting loss was
mainly due to the prudent statutory reserving based on
actuarial assumptions, whereas the investment returns on
capital and premiums placed with the Exchange Fund were
grouped under other income.

Other Income

Other income was HK$465 million (2018: HK$250 million),
mainly representing investment income of HK$465 million
(2018: HK$185 million) from placements with the Exchange
Fund, net gain of HK$33 million (2018: net loss of HK$14
million) on investments at fair value through profit or loss,
dividend income of HK$20 million (2018: HK$59 million) from
investments, and exchange loss of HK$38 million (2018: gain
of HK$12 million) arising primarily from US dollar exposures
in cash and debt investments.

Operating Expenses

The Group continues to maintain stringent cost controls
to contain expenses and improve operating efficiency.
Amid the increase in resources utilised for supporting the
Group’s core missions and certain policy initiatives of the
HKSAR Government, operating expenses rose to HK$480
million (2018: HK$412 million), less than budget. Staff costs,
which were contained at 61.7% of total operating expenses,
amounted to HK$296 million (2018: HK$258 million).

Allowance for Loan Impairment

Asset quality remained strong, with the delinquency ratio of
the Group’s mortgage portfolio staying low at 0.02% (2018:
0.02%). Taking into account the purchase of infrastructure
loans generally at high credit quality of about HK$1.9
billion during the year, a provision on loan impairment
allowance of HK$0.9 million was recorded in 2019 (2018:
HK$0.02 million), in accordance with the approved prudent
provisioning policy. During the year, loans written off
amounted to HK$0.5 million (2018: HK$0.6 million) with a
recovery of HK$0.5 million (2018: HK$0.9 million).

Segmental Analysis
Table 3 below sets out the profit before tax contributed by
various business segments for 2019.

Table 3

Asset
Purchase

and  General Life

Insurance Total
HKS million  HKS million

Insurance
HKS million

Servicing
HKS$ million

Year ended 31 December 2019

Profit/(Loss) before tax 302 163 (128) 337
Year ended 31 December 2018
Profit/(Loss) before tax 360 173 (466) 67

The profit before tax in 2019 for asset purchase and
servicing was HK$302 million, mainly arising from net
interest income of the loan and investment portfolios.
General insurance’s profit before tax in 2019 was
HK$163 million, mainly attributable to net premiums
earned from MIP and RMP. Life insurance recorded a loss
before tax of HK$128 million in 2019, mainly due to the
prudent statutory reserves based on actuarial assumptions
provided for the annuity business of the HKMCA, partially
offset by the investment returns from capital and premium
placements with the Exchange Fund. Notwithstanding
the reported loss of the HKMCA, the embedded value?
of its annuity business at the end of 2019 was about
HK$5.3 billion indicating that the business should be
profitable in the long term.

2 The embedded value is the sum of the total equity and the present value
of future profits. The total equity includes HK$5 billion of capital injected to
the HKMCA in April 2018.
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Loan Portfolio

During the year, the Group purchased infrastructure
loans of about HK$1.9 billion (2018: HK$0.3 billion of Hong
Kong loan assets). After accounting for prepayments and
repayments of mortgage loan portfolios during the year, the
outstanding balance of the loan portfolio was HK$6.9 billion
(2018: HK$6.4 hillion).

Investment Securities

The Group adopts a prudent, low-risk approach in managing
its surplus funds and investment activities in accordance
with the investment guidelines approved by the Board. As
at 31 December 2019, the total investment portfolio was
HK$17.3 billion (2018: HK$17.2 billion), which included debt
investments of HK$16.9 billion and exchange-traded bond
funds and real estate investment trusts of HK$0.4 billion.
There was no default loss from debt investments.

Placements with the Exchange Fund

As at 31 December 2019, the placements with the Exchange
Fund arising from the capital investments of the HKMCI and
HKMCA and premium investments of the HKMCA amounted
to HK$12.9 billion (2018: HK$7.7 billion), of which the capital
investment of the HKMCI was commenced in 2019.

Debt Securities Issued

In 2019, the Group issued HK$31.9 billion of debt securities
under the MTN Programme. All the non-Hong Kong dollar
debts issued under the MTN Programme were hedged
into Hong Kong dollars or US dollars. The Group continued
to adopt a prudent pre-funding strategy, with the total
outstanding balance of the debt securities maintained
at HK$39.7 billion as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$37.3 billion).

Key Off-balance Sheet Exposure

Mortgage Insurance Programme

The Group operates the MIP on a risk-sharing basis with
approved reinsurers. At the end of 2019, the total risk-in-
force was about HK$27.9 billion (2018: HK$23.7 billion), of
which HK$4.8 billion (2018: HK$4.0 billion) was ceded to
approved reinsurers. The off-balance sheet risk-in-force
exposure borne by the Group increased to HK$23.1 billion
(2018: HK$19.7 billion).

The provision for outstanding claims remained steady
at 0.1% of the retained risk-in-force at year-end. The
delinquency ratio remained healthy at 0.003% (2018:
0.002%).

Reverse Mortgage Programme

The Group operates the RMP as an insurer to provide
mortgage insurance cover for a premium on reverse
mortgage loans advanced by participating banks in
Hong Kong. After taking into account the undrawn
future payout of reverse mortgage loans along with the
reinsurance arrangement executed in 2019, the risk-in-force
exposure borne by the Group increased to HK$11.2 billion
(2018: HK$9.6 billion), with the corresponding outstanding
loan balance totalling HK$2.3 billion as at 31 December 2019.

Capital Management

In order to ensure that the Group would not incur excess
risk when expanding its business and balance sheet in
proportion to its capital base, capital adequacy and the use
of capital were monitored closely by the Group. During the
year, the Group was in compliance with the Guidelines on
Capital Adequacy Ratio (Guidelines) issued by the Financial
Secretary with reference to the Basel Il risk-based capital
adequacy framework.

In accordance with the Guidelines, the calculation of
the CAR follows the basis of consolidation for financial
reporting with the exclusion of regulated subsidiaries which
are subject to separate requirements on the maintenance
of adequate capital (i.e., the HKMCI and the HKMCA, as
regulated by the Insurance Authority). After excluding
the investment cost of these unconsolidated regulated
subsidiaries, the CAR remained solid at 30.2% as at 31
December 2019, well above the minimum ratio of 8%
stipulated in the Guidelines on CAR.

The solvency ratios of the HKMCI and the HKMCA as at
31 December 2019 were about 39 times and 22 times
respectively, well above the respective 200% and 150%
minimum regulatory requirements stipulated by the 1A,

Dividend
Having considered the capital requirements for business
development, no dividend was declared for 2019 (2018: Nil).
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The Group operates on prudent commercial principles.
The principle of “prudence before profitability” guides the
design of the overall risk management framework and
disciplines its uses in day-to-day business execution. Over
the years, the Group has continuously made refinements
to its well-established, robust and time-tested risk
management framework to reflect changes in the markets
and its business strategies.

The Board is the highest decision-making authority
of the Group and holds ultimate responsibility for risk
management. The Board, with the assistance of the
Corporate Risk Management Committee (CRC), has the
primary responsibility of formulating risk management
strategies in the risk appetite statement and of ensuring
that the Group has an effective risk management system
to implement these strategies. The risk appetite statement
defines the constraints for all risk-taking activities, and
these constraints are incorporated into risk limits, risk
policies and control procedures that the Group follows to
ensure risks are managed properly.

The CRC is responsible for overseeing the Group's various
types of risks, reviewing and approving high-level risk-
related policies, overseeing their implementation, and
monitoring improvement efforts in governance, policies
and tools. Regular stress tests are reviewed by the CRC to
evaluate the Group’s financial capability to weather extreme
stress scenarios.

The CRC is chaired by an Executive Director, with members
including the Chief Executive Officer, Senior Vice Presidents,
General Counsel and senior staff from the Risk Management
Department.

The Group manages primarily credit risk, market risk,
longevity risk, property risk, operational risk, legal and
compliance risk, and leveraging risk arising from its loan
assets, guarantee portfolio, infrastructure loans, annuity
business and investment portfolio.

In addition to the CRC, the HKMC manages different risks
through various management committees such as the
Infrastructure Financing and Securitisation Investment
Committee (IFSIC), Credit Committee (CC), Transaction
Approval Committee (TAC), Asset and Liability Committee
(ALCO), Operational Risk Committee (ORC) and Longevity
Risk Committee (LRC). Other than the IFSIC, which is
chaired by an Executive Director, all of these management
committees are chaired by Chief Executive Officer with
members including the relevant Senior Vice Presidents,
General Counsel, and senior staff from the relevant
functional departments.

The insurance subsidiaries also have their own Risk
Committee (RC) to monitor insurance risk and other
relevant risks. Each RC is chaired by an Executive Director
of these subsidiaries, with members including the Chief
Executive Officer, the relevant Senior Vice Presidents and
senior staff from the relevant functional departments
of these subsidiaries. The RC of the HKMCA includes
independent and non-executive directors to provide
independent risk oversight of its operation.

Credit Risk

Loan Assets and Guarantee Portfolio

The Group maintains loan and guarantee portfolios of retail
and commercial loan assets, which primarily comprise
mortgage loans. Credit risk is the Group's primary risk
exposure. It is the default risk presented by loan borrowers
and counterparties.

(@) Default risk
To effectively address default risk, the Group adopts
a four-pronged approach to safeguard and maintain
the quality of its assets, MIP and SME guarantee
portfolios:

o careful selection of counterparties, including
Approved Sellers, Approved Servicers, Approved
Reinsurers and Lenders

o prudent eligibility criteria for asset purchase,
insurance and guarantee applications

o effective due diligence processes for mortgage
purchase, default loss, insurance and guarantee
claims

o enhanced protection for higher-risk transactions.

Losses may arise if there are shortfalls in the recovery
amount received for defaulted loans that fall under the
Mortgage Purchase Programme (MPP). To mitigate
this default risk, the Group establishes prudent loan
purchasing criteria and conducts effective due diligence
reviews as part of the loan purchase process to maintain
the credit quality of loans. In addition, depending on the
projected risk exposure of each underlying loan portfolio,
credit enhancement arrangements are agreed upon with
Approved Sellers on a deal-by-deal basis to reduce credit
losses that could arise from the borrower’s default.
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Losses may also arise from a default on loans under
the MIP’s insurance coverage. Each MIP application is
underwritten by the Group in accordance with a set of
eligibility criteria and each claim from a participating
bank is reviewed by the Group to ensure the fulfilment
of all MIP coverage conditions. As a result, the default
risk for loans with MIP coverage has been greatly
reduced. To reduce the risk of possible concentration
of this default risk, the Group transfers a portion of
the risk-in-force to Approved Reinsurers through
reinsurance arrangements.

Similarly, losses may arise from a borrower’s
default on loans in the SME guarantee portfolio. The
borrower’s default risk of each guarantee application
is assessed by the lender in accordance with their
credit policies. In addition, the Group adopts prudent
eligibility criteria, conducts administrative vetting and
credit reviews to better understand the credit quality
of the applications, and carries out a due diligence
review on each default claim to ensure the loan’s
compliance with the Group'’s eligibility criteria and the
lenders’ internal credit policies.

In addition, the Group adopts a three-pronged
approach to manage the default risk under the MFS,
comprising: (a) prudent assessment of borrowers’
repayment capability; (b) a vetting panel to
consider business viability and approval of the loan
applications; and (c) the provision of training and
mentoring support to borrowers.

Credit performances of the loan and guarantee
portfolios are tracked and reported on a regular basis
to provide management with an updated credit profile
to monitor the operating environment closely for any
emerging risks to the Group, and to implement risk-
mitigating measures in a timely way.

(b)

©

@

Seller/Servicer counterparty risk

Counterparty risks may arise from the failure of an
Approved Seller/Servicer of an acquired portfolio to
remit scheduled payments to the Group in a timely
and accurate manner.

The Approved Sellers/Servicers are subject to a risk-
based eligibility review and ongoing monitoring of
their loan servicing quality and credit standing.

Reinsurer counterparty risk

Reinsurer counterparty risk refers to the failure of
an Approved Reinsurer to make claim payments to
the Group. To mitigate reinsurer counterparty risk
effectively, the Group has a framework in place for
the assessment of mortgage reinsurers’ eligibility and
requested collateral on the risk exposures.

The Group performs annual and ad-hoc reviews of
each Approved Reinsurer to determine the eligibility
for ongoing business allocation and risk-sharing
portions.

Treasury counterparty risk

Treasury counterparty risk arises when there is
a delay or failure from treasury counterparties to
make payments with respect to treasury instruments
transacted with the Group. Treasury counterparties
are managed by a ratings-based counterparty
assessment framework and a risk-based counterparty
limit mechanism. The treasury counterparties are
continually monitored and the counterparty limits are
adjusted based on the assessment results.

Furthermore, the Group has set up bilateral collateral
arrangements with major swap counterparties to
mitigate treasury counterparty risk.
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Lender risk

The Group is exposed to lender risk in SME lending
that arises from: (a) a lender’s underwriting being
non-compliant with its credit policy; (b) a lender’s
loosely formulated credit policy that is not specific
enough or sufficiently defined for compliance; and
(c) the moral hazard of a lender being less prudent in
underwriting a guarantee-protected application. The
Group manages lender risk through the review of the
lenders’ credit policies and the due diligence reviews
on claims.

Insurer counterparty risk

Insurer counterparty risk arises when there is a
delay or failure from the life insurer in meeting its
obligations under the life insurance policy assigned
to the Group under the Policy Reverse Mortgage
Programme (PRMP). To mitigate insurer counterparty
risk, the life insurance policy to be assigned to the
Group must be issued by an insurer authorised under
the Insurance Ordinance. Furthermore, the insurers
are subject to ongoing monitoring.

At the heart of the credit risk management framework
are the CC or TAC, or the RC as in the case of the
insurance subsidiaries.

The CC or RC as appropriate is responsible for setting
the credit policies and eligibility criteria. The CC or RC
as appropriate is the approval authority for accepting
applications to become Approved Sellers/Servicers
under the MPP, Approved Reinsurers under the
MIP, Approved Lenders under the SFGS and eligible
treasury counterparties. It is also responsible for
setting risk exposure limits for counterparties. The CC
and RC monitor the operating environment closely
and put in place timely risk-mitigating measures to
manage the credit risk.

The TAC or RC as appropriate conducts an in-depth
analysis of pricing economics and associated credit risks
for business transactions, while taking into consideration
the latest market conditions and business strategies
approved by the Board.

Infrastructure Loans

Credit risk arises when the counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, leading
to potential or actual financial losses to the Group. The
credit risk related to the IFS business is managed through
prudent underwriting criteria and in-depth due diligence
reviews conducted by in-house expertise and independent
consultants. All investments take into consideration
transaction structures with appropriate risks and returns,
acceptable project risks and mitigation measures, including
delay risk, construction risk, performance risk, operational
risk, commercial risk, financial risk, counterparty risk,
concentration risk, legal and compliance risk, regulatory
risk, political risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and
environmental and social risks, subject to ongoing
monitoring and a review mechanism. The Group also adopts
a robust internal credit rating methodology and a loss given
default methodology to evaluate expected losses arising
from an infrastructure loan default.

In terms of the risk governance structure, a dedicated
division, inclusive of an independent risk control unit,
performs the credit assessment, day-to-day monitoring,
reporting and risk management of infrastructure
investments. The IFSIC is the governing forum to manage
the infrastructure investments and is responsible for
overseeing compliance with rules, guidelines and policies
in relation to infrastructure finance, and for approving and
monitoring the infrastructure investments.
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Market Risk
Market risk arises when the Group’s income or the value
of its portfolios decreases due to adverse movements in
market prices. Market risk consists of interest rate risk,
asset-liability maturity mismatch risk, liquidity risk and
currency risk.

(@)
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Interest rate risk

Net interest income is the predominant source of
earnings for the Group. It represents the excess of
interest income (from the Group's loan portfolio,
cash and debt investments) over interest expenses
(from debt issuances and other borrowings). Interest
rate risk arises when changes in market interest
rates affect the interest income associated with the
assets and/or interest expenses associated with the
liabilities.

The primary objective of interest rate risk management
is to limit the potential adverse effects of interest rate
movements on interest income and expenses while
maintaining stable earnings growth. The interest rate
risk faced by the Group is two-fold, namely interest
rate mismatch risk and basis risk. Interest rate
mismatch risk is the most substantial risk affecting
the Group's net interest income. It arises mainly as a
result of differences in the timing of interest rate re-
pricing for the Group's interest-earning assets and
interest-bearing liabilities. Interest rate mismatch
risk is most evident in those loan portfolios where
the majority of the loans are floating-rate assets
(benchmarked against the Prime Rate or HIBOR),
while the majority of the Group’s liabilities are fixed-
rate debt securities. The Group makes prudent use
of a range of financial instruments, such as interest
rate swaps, interest rate swaptions, basis swaps,
forward rate agreements and issuances of MBS, to
manage interest rate mismatch risk. The proceeds of

the fixed-rate debt securities are generally swapped
into HIBOR-based funds via interest rate swaps to
better match the floating-rate incomes from mortgage
assets.

The Group also uses the duration gap as an indicator
to monitor, measure and manage interest rate
mismatch risk. Duration gap measures the difference
in interest rate re-pricing intervals between assets
and liabilities. The wider the duration gap, the higher
the interest rate mismatch risk. A positive duration
gap means the duration of assets is longer than that
of the liabilities, and therefore represents greater risk
exposure to rising interest rates. A negative duration
gap, in contrast, indicates greater risk exposure to
declining interest rates.

Depending on the prevailing interest rate outlook and
market conditions, the Group proactively re-balances
the duration gap of its asset-liability portfolio under
the guidance and supervision of the ALCO.

Basis risk represents the difference in benchmark
rates between the Group’s Prime-based interest-
earning assets and its HIBOR-based interest-bearing
liabilities. However, there are only limited financial
instruments available in the market to fully hedge the
Prime-HIBOR basis risk. In general, basis risk can be
effectively addressed only when assets are based on
HIBOR to match the funding base or when related risk
management instruments become more prevalent
or economical. Over the past few years, the Group
has consciously adopted a strategy that acquires
more HIBOR-based assets. As a result, the Prime-
HIBOR basis risk for the Group has been substantially
reduced. In addition, the Group issues Prime-based
MBS and uses hedging derivatives to mitigate such
basis risk.
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Asset-liability maturity mismatch risk

The actual average life of a portfolio of mortgage
loans and infrastructure loans, which is usually
shorter than their contractual maturity, depends on
the speed of scheduled repayments and unscheduled
prepayments. Higher prepayment rates shorten the
average life of a portfolio of mortgage loans. In Hong
Kong, prepayment occurs for two main reasons: (i)
housing turnover: borrowers repaying their mortgage
loans upon the sales of the underlying properties, and
(i) refinancing: borrowers refinancing their mortgage
loans to obtain lower mortgage rates.

Asset-liability maturity mismatch risk can be more
specifically characterised as reinvestment risk and
refinancing risk. Reinvestment risk refers to the risk
of a lower return from the reinvestment of proceeds
that the Group receives from prepayments and
repayments of its loan portfolio. Refinancing risk is
the risk of refinancing liabilities at a higher level of
interest rate or credit spread. The Group is exposed
to refinancing risk in the funding amount and cost of
funds when it uses short-term liabilities to finance
long-term floating-rate loan portfolios. Reinvestment
risk is managed through the ongoing purchase of
loan assets to replenish the rundown in the retained
portfolios, and through the investment of surplus
cash in debt securities and cash deposits, to fine-tune
the average life of the overall asset pool. In addition,
the Group uses the issuance of callable bonds and
transferable loan certificates to mitigate reinvestment
risk. The call option embedded in callable bonds and
transferable loan certificates allows the Group to
adjust the average life of its liabilities to match more
closely with that of the overall pool of assets.

The Group manages its refinancing risk through flexible
debt securities issuance with a broad spectrum of
maturities. This serves to adjust the average life of the
overall liability portfolio in a dynamic fashion. In addition,
refinancing risk can be mitigated by adjusting the
maturities of assets in the investment portfolio, or off-
loading loan assets through securitisation.

(©

The Group uses the asset-liability maturity gap ratio to
measure, monitor and manage asset-liability maturity
mismatch risk to ensure a proper balance between
the average life of the Group's assets and liabilities.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk represents the risk of the Group not
being able to repay its obligations such as the
redemption of maturing debt, or to fund committed
purchases of loan portfolios. The Group implements
its liquidity risk management framework in response
to changes in market conditions. The Group
continuously monitors the impact of market events
on its liquidity position, and pursues a prudent pre-
funding strategy to help contain the impact of any
global financial turmoil on its liquidity. Liquidity
risk is managed by monitoring the daily inflow and
outflow of funds, and by projecting the longer-term
inflows and outflows of funds across the full maturity
spectrum. The Group uses the liquid asset ratio to
measure, monitor and manage liquidity risk.

Given its strong background as a wholly government-
owned entity and its solid credit rating, the Group
is efficient in raising funds from debt markets with
both institutional and retail funding bases. This
advantage is supplemented by the Group's portfolio
of highly liquid investments, which is held to enable
a swift and smooth response to unforeseen liquidity
requirements. The HK$30 billion Revolving Credit
Facility from the Exchange Fund further provides the
Group with a liquidity fallback even if exceptional
market strains last for a prolonged period.

The Group manages pre-funding prudently through
well-diversified funding sources, so all foreseeable
funding commitments are met when they fall due.
This supports the growth of its business and the
maintenance of a well-balanced liability portfolio.
Such diversification allows the Group to pursue a pre-
funding strategy at the lowest possible cost, while
offering safeguards against the difficulty of raising
funds in distorted market conditions. The current
funding sources are illustrated in Table 1 below:
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Table 1: Current Funding Sources for the Corporation

Funding Source Description
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Currency risk

Currency risk arises from the impact of foreign
exchange rate fluctuations on the Group'’s financial
position and foreign currency-denominated cash
flows. The Group manages its currency risk strictly in
accordance with the investment guidelines approved
by the Board and under the supervision of the
ALCO, which sets daily monitoring limits on currency
exposure.

In accordance with this prudent risk-management
principle, the net exposure of the foreign currency-
denominated debts issued under the MTN Programme
is fully hedged by the use of cross-currency swaps.

Transaction execution is segregated among the front,
middle and back offices to ensure adequate checks
and balances. The Treasury Department, acting as
the front office, is responsible for monitoring financial
market movements and executing transactions in the
cash, derivatives, debt and securitisation markets in
accordance with strategies laid down by the ALCO.
The Risk Management Department, assuming the
middle-office role, monitors compliance with treasury
counterparty and market risk limits. The Operations
Department, acting as the back office, is responsible
for deal verification, confirmation, settlement and the
payment process.

The ALCO is responsible for the overall management
of market risk. It follows the prudent risk management
principles and investment guidelines approved by the
Board. It is responsible for reviewing and managing
the market risk, including interest rate risk, asset-
liability maturity mismatch risk, liquidity and funding
risk, and currency risk. Regular meetings are held
to review the latest financial market developments
and formulate relevant asset-liability management
strategies.

Placements with the Exchange Fund
The HKMCA places its annuity premium receipts in
the Investment Portfolio (IP) and Long Term Growth

Portfolio (LTGP) of the Exchange Fund to earn an
investment return. Furthermore, the HKMCA and the
HKMCI have been placing their paid-up capital and
retained earnings to the IP since April 2019 to manage
the return on capital. The Group is exposed to market
risk when the investment return falls short of the
expected level. The risk of loss could result from
adverse movements in interest rates, equity prices,
property prices and foreign exchange rates. The
Group actively monitors and reviews the investment
portfolio to determine the strategic asset allocation
between IP and LTGP.

The RCs of the HKMCA and the HKMCI are the
governing forums for managing all risks arising from
their placements with the Exchange Fund.

Longevity Risk

Longevity risk under the RMP and the PRMP refers to the
heightening risk of longer and larger payouts. The longer
the payout and loan period, the larger the loan balance will
accrue over time, and the lesser the buffer will be from
the enforcement of collateral to cover the outstanding
loan balance. A loss may arise if there is a shortfall in the
recovery amount after the disposal of the property.

Longevity risk under the HKMC Annuity Plan (Annuity Plan)
is the risk that the actual life expectancies of annuitants
are longer than expected, resulting in a longer stream of
monthly payouts, which in turn could materially impact the
long-term sustainability of the Annuity Plan.

The termination rate of the loans under the RMP, the PRMP
and the annuity policies under the Annuity Plan depend
largely on the mortality rate (that is, life expectancy)
of the borrowers and the annuitants respectively. The
Group takes on longevity risk through setting prudent
actuarial assumptions in mortality rates as well as future
improvement in life expectancy. An annual risk analysis
is conducted to assess the potential financial impact of
longevity risk, as well as the interaction among the various
risk factors under the RMP, the PRMP and the Annuity Plan.
The mortality assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis.
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The LRC is the governing forum that manages the longevity
risk of the Group. Its duties include approving longevity risk
management policies, hedging transactions and reviewing
longevity experiences and exposures of the Group. It also
monitors and analyses the general trend, technological
changes and their implications for human longevity.

Property Risk

Property risk arises from fluctuation in the value of
property that acts as collateral for the Group’s loan and
guarantee portfolios under the MPP, MIP and RMP. The
Group manages property risk by soliciting valuations from
professional surveyors on each property securing a loan
purchase or application, setting prudent assumptions
in the recoverable value of the collateralised property,
restricting maximum loan-to-value ratios of the loans under
the relevant programmes and conducting stress tests to
examine the impact of adverse market conditions.

The CC and RC are the governing forums that manage the
property risk of the Group.

Operational Risk

Operational risk represents the risk of losses arising from
inadequacies, or the failure of internal processes, people or
systems, or external interruptions.

The Group adopts a bottom-up approach to identify
operational risk by conducting in-depth analyses of
new products, business activities, processes, system
enhancements and due diligence reviews of new
operational flows. Comprehensive validation rules,
management information system reports and audit trails
are in place to track and report any errors or deficiencies.

The Group actively manages operational risk with its
comprehensive system of well-established internal controls,
authentication structures and operational procedures.
The operational infrastructure is well designed to support
the launch of new products in different business areas.
Rigorous reviews are conducted before the implementation
of operational or system infrastructure, to ensure adequate
internal controls are in place to mitigate operational risks.

To ensure an efficient and effective discharge of daily
operations, the Group pursues advanced technological
solutions alongside robust business logistics and controls to
carry out its operational activities and business processes.
Steps are taken to ensure the accuracy, availability and
security of these systems. The Group also takes cautious
steps to institute adequate checks and balances to ensure
its operations are controlled properly. Effective internal
controls help minimise financial risk and safeguard assets
against inappropriate use or loss, including the prevention
and detection of fraud.

The ORC is responsible for ensuring all line functions
in the Group maintain an effective operational risk and
internal control framework. The ORC establishes key risk
indicators to track the key operational risk items and
monitor the effectiveness of the risk-mitigating measures.
Operational risk incidents that may potentially indicate a
control weakness, a failure or non-compliance in internal
processes are logged, reported and handled for operational
risk management. The ORC is also responsible for providing
directions and resolving issues related to policies, controls
and the management of operational issues as well as
ensuring prompt and appropriate corrective actions in
response to audit findings related to operational risks and
internal controls.

Legal and Compliance Risk

Legal and compliance risk arises from the failure to
comply with statutory or regulatory obligations and any
unenforceability of legal documents in safeguarding the
interests of the Group.

The Corporation manages such risk with the assistance of
the Legal Office (including the Compliance Function).

The Legal Office, headed by the General Counsel, advises
the Group on legal matters. When new products or business
activities are considered, the Legal Office will advise on
the relevant laws and the necessary legal documentation.
Where appropriate, external counsel will be engaged to
assist the Legal Office in providing legal support to the
Group.
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The Compliance Function is part of the Legal Office and
is led by the Chief Compliance Officer, who reports to the
Chief Executive Officer through the General Counsel. Where
appropriate, the Compliance Function will engage external
counsel to advise on compliance matters.

The ORC is the governance committee for legal and
compliance risk.

Leveraging Risk

To ensure the Group would not incur excessive risk when
expanding its business and balance sheet in proportion
to its capital base, the Financial Secretary acted as the
regulator of the Group and issued the Guidelines on Capital
Adequacy Ratio (CAR) taking reference principally from
the Basel Il risk-based capital adequacy framework. The
minimum CAR is set at 8%. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group's CAR was 30.2%.

The prudent use of regulatory capital is monitored closely in
accordance with the capital guidelines. The Chief Executive
Officer reports the CAR and the daily minimum ratio to the
Board of Directors on a quarterly basis. An early warning
system is also in place. If the CAR drops to the threshold
level of 14%, the Chief Executive Officer will alert the
Executive Directors and consider appropriate remedial
actions. If the CAR falls to 12% or below, the Board of
Directors will be informed and appropriate remedial actions
will be taken.

The capital requirements of the insurance subsidiaries are
subject to the regulatory requirements of the Insurance
Authority. As at 31 December 2019, the solvency ratios of
the HKMCA and the HKMCI were 22 times and 39 times
respectively.
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance Practices
The missions of the Corporation are to promote:

o stability of the banking sector

o wider home ownership

o development of the local debt market

o development of retirement planning market.

The Corporation operates on prudent commercial principles
and is committed to ensuring a high standard of corporate
governance to improve the overall accountability,
transparency and long-term sustainability of its operations.
The Corporation’s corporate governance practices are set
out in its “Corporate Governance Code” (Code) approved
by the Board. The Code is premised on the principles of
fairness, transparency, accountability and responsibility
to all stakeholders and has been issued to the sole
shareholder, Directors and staff members. The Code is also
available on the Corporation’s website (www.hkmc.com.hk).

Monitoring of compliance with the Code starts with self-
assessment by each department each year, which is to be
followed by an independent review by the Chief Internal
Auditor of the Control Self-assessment Forms completed
by each department. A compliance report will then be
submitted to the Board for review. The Board is empowered
to require that appropriate action be taken in relation to any
non-compliance.

In February 2020, the Chief Internal Auditor conducted an
independent review of the Control Self-assessment Forms
provided by each department in relation to the compliance
with the Code for 2019. Based on the audit findings on the
Corporation’s internal controls systems and the completed
Control Self-assessment Forms for the year, the Chief
Internal Auditor was of the opinion that the Code had been
complied with in all material respects.

Enhancements to the Corporate Governance
Code

Maintaining a robust and sensible framework of corporate
governance for the effective and prudent management of
the Corporation is always a top corporate priority. To ensure
that the Corporation’s corporate governance practices are
commensurate with the best standards, the Corporation

will review the Code from time to time and will adopt any
relevant development in corporate governance practices.

Sole Shareholder

All the shares of the Corporation are held by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the
account of the Exchange Fund.

The Board

The Board is responsible for leading the Corporation and
promoting its success in an accountable and effective
manner. To provide strategic leadership and effective
control of the Corporation, the Board meets in person
at least four times a year to oversee the Corporation’s
business strategy and policies, budgeting and planning,
organisational and financial performance, risk management,
human resources as well as community relations. In order
to ensure that well-balanced decisions are made by the
Board, the composition of the Board includes officials from
the Government, and representatives from political parties,
banking sector and the accounting and legal professions.
Directors are encouraged to attend Board meetings to
ensure that issues are properly discussed.

The Code requires that Directors are provided with
appropriate information before Board meetings to enable
them to be updated on the affairs of the Corporation, and
make informed decisions at the meetings. During the year
under review, four Board meetings were held.

The Code also requires Directors to avoid situations which
may, or may be seen to, compromise their personal
judgement or integrity in the performance of their duties as
Directors of the Corporation or lead to conflict of interests.

Directors are requested to declare their or their respective
connected entities’ material interests in any matter to be
considered by the Board. If a Director or any of his or her
connected entities has a conflict of interests in a matter
to be considered by the Board, such Director will abstain
from, and not be counted in the quorum in respect of,
voting on such matter at the Board meeting. In respect
of each financial reporting period, the Corporation will
seek confirmation from Directors in respect of their and
their respective connected entities’ material interests
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in significant transactions, arrangements or contracts
involving the Corporation or its subsidiaries or subsidiary
undertakings. Material related-party transactions between
the Corporation and its counterparties will be identified
and disclosed in the notes to the financial statements each
year in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards.

As at 31 December 2019, there were 14 Directors all of
whom were duly appointed by the shareholder of the
Corporation. Information about Directors is set out in the
Directors’ Report published in the Annual Report and also
available on the Corporation’s website. All Directors, other
than the four Executive Directors, are non-executive and
are not actively involved in the day-to-day management of
the Corporation. Non-Executive Directors, however, do play
an important role in bringing their independent judgement,
considerable knowledge and diverse expertise to the
Board’s deliberations which in turn provide effective steer
to Management in pursuit of the Corporation’s policies. The
Corporation does not remunerate its Directors.

For newly appointed Directors, the Corporation will provide
an induction briefing on the business activities, strategies
and objectives of the Corporation.

The term of a Non-Executive Director is generally one
year. Under the Articles of Association of the Corporation,
all Non-Executive Directors will retire at the next Annual
General Meeting following their appointment but are eligible
for re-election.

The Corporation maintains a directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy for its Directors and officers against legal
proceedings and other claims arising in the course of
discharge of their duties in respect of the Corporation.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During 2019, the Hon. Paul Chan Mo-po was the Chairman
and Mr Raymond Li Ling-cheung was the Chief Executive
Officer. The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
were separate and not performed by the same individual,
which ensured a clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the executive functions of the Corporation’s
Management. The Board is responsible for laying down

strategic direction and business guidelines, approving
financial objectives and closely monitoring the Corporation’s
performance on an ongoing basis. The Chief Executive
Officer, who is accountable to the Board, is responsible for
leading Management in implementing the Board's decisions
in a proper and efficient manner. The Chief Executive
Officer also ensures that adequate information relating to
the Corporation’s business is reported to the Board on a
regular basis.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board and
its main duty is to ensure that all company secretarial
procedures are followed by the Corporation and the Board.
In addition, the Company Secretary ensures that Board
Papers are provided to Directors in a timely manner prior
to each Board meeting. Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary with a view to
ensuring that applicable laws, rules and regulations are
complied with in respect of Board proceedings.

The schedule for 2019 Board meetings was provided to
Directors in advance to facilitate Directors’ attendance
at Board meetings. The Code requires that Board Papers
should generally be sent to Directors at least seven days
before the relevant Board meeting so that Directors could
be properly briefed before the Board meeting. Board Papers
typically contain comprehensive background or explanatory
information about the agenda items and include supporting
documents, analyses, research findings, projections,
budgets and forecasts, where appropriate. However, any
Director adjudged to have a conflict of interests in an
agenda item for the Board meeting will not be provided with
the relevant Board Paper.

All the minutes of Board meetings and Audit Committee
meetings are generally taken in sufficient detail, including
the matters considered, decisions reached, concerns
raised by Directors and dissenting views expressed at
the meetings. All minutes of Board meetings and Audit
Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary
and made available for inspection by any Director, except
where a Director has a conflict of interests in any matter
discussed under an agenda item, the relevant minutes or
materials would be withheld from such Director.
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Audit Committee

During the year under review, the Audit Committee
comprised the following members:

o Mr Clement Chan, Non-Executive Director
(Chairman of the Audit Committee)
(appointed on 25 July 2019)

J Mr Howard Lee, Executive Director
(appointed on 9 October 2019)

o Prof. Chan Ka-keung, Non-Executive Director

o Ms Anita Fung, Non-Executive Director

o Mr Brian Stevenson, Non-Executive Director
(membership ceased upon retirement as Non-
Executive Director on 17 May 2019)

o Mr Eddie Yue, Deputy Chairman and Executive
Director (membership ceased on 9 October 2019)

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Corporation’s financial statements, the composition
and accounting principles adopted in such statements,
the results of the financial audits, and the Corporation’s
management procedures to ensure the adequacy and
effectiveness of its internal controls systems.

The Audit Committee holds regular meetings with
Management, the Chief Internal Auditor and external
auditor. The Audit Committee also meets on an ad hoc
basis to consider special issues requiring its attention. The
Chairman of the Audit Committee summarises the reviews
conducted by the Audit Committee, and highlights any
major issues in a report for submission to the Board for
Directors’ consideration. In 2019, the Audit Committee held
two meetings.

Internal Auditor

The Group Internal Audit (GIA) Department operates
independent of Management and plays a major role in
assessing the internal controls systems of the Corporation.
The GIA Department is led by the Chief Internal Auditor who
reports directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee
on all matters relating to the Corporation’s internal

controls. The Chief Internal Auditor also reports to the Chief
Executive Officer on day-to-day administrative matters of
the GIA Department, and has authority to communicate
directly with the Chairman of the Audit Committee without
reference to Management.

Each year, the Audit Committee formally approves the
annual Internal Audit Work Plan drawn up by the Chief
Internal Auditor based on his independent risk assessment
and observations of relevant risk management topics
discussed at meetings of the Operational Risk Committee
and the Corporate Risk Management Committee. In
accordance with the annual Internal Audit Work Plan, the
GIA Department adopts a risk-based audit approach in
conducting its independent reviews of the Corporation’s
internal controls systems. After each review, the
GIA Department discusses the audit findings and
recommendations with the relevant department heads,
Senior Management and Executive Director. Internal audit
reports are submitted to the Audit Committee for review
and, thereafter, to the Board for information.

Over the years, Management has adopted an active approach
in considering audit findings and recommendations made
by the Chief Internal Auditor and closely monitored their
implementation.

External Auditor

The Corporation’s external auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers.
Detailed information in respect of the auditor’s
remuneration is disclosed in the Corporation’s financial
statements. The auditor is allowed to communicate freely
with the Chief Internal Auditor and the Audit Committee. To
ensure its independence with respect to the Corporation,
the auditor would issue a letter, on an annual basis, to the
Audit Committee to confirm its independence based on
the requirements under section 290 of the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. For the purpose of the
audit of the Corporation’s financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019, PricewaterhouseCoopers has
confirmed its independence to the Audit Committee.

The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited Annual Report 2019 65



Corporate Governance Report

Financial Reporting

The Corporation aims to present a clear, balanced and
comprehensible assessment of its performance, financial
position and prospects to its stakeholders and the general
public. Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements, and there is a statement by
the auditor regarding its reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on such financial statements.
Directors are to ensure that financial statements are
prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the financial
status of the Corporation. The annual and interim results of
the Corporation are announced in a timely manner after the
end of each relevant period.

Internal Controls

The Board has the overall responsibility for the
Corporation’s internal controls systems and, through
the Audit Committee, conducts periodic reviews on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the systems.

Various committees have been established to ensure the
efficient operation and prudent risk management of the
Corporation. These include the Corporate Risk Management
Committee and Infrastructure Financing and Securitisation
Investment Committee which are both chaired by an
Executive Director to oversee the risks of the Corporation
from an enterprise-wide perspective, and the Operational
Risk Committee, the Credit Committee, the Transaction
Approval Committee, the Asset and Liability Committee
and Longevity Risk Committee, each chaired by the Chief
Executive Officer. Each of these committees has clear and
well-defined terms of reference. Detailed descriptions of
these committees and the risk management framework of
the Corporation are set out in the Risk Management section
of the Annual Report.

The internal controls systems are designed to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or
loss, manage risks of failure in the operational processes
and the attainment of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for internal use and publication,
and ensure compliance with policies and applicable
legislation and regulations.

Compliance Reporting

The Compliance Function is part of the Legal Office and
is established for focused management of regulatory and
compliance risk.

The Compliance Function is led by the Chief Compliance
Officer who reports to the Chief Executive Officer through
the General Counsel. In accordance with the Group
Compliance Policy and the Group Compliance Manual
of the Corporation, the Compliance Function monitors
and advises departments of the Corporation on their
compliance practices with a focus on conflict of interests,
anti-corruption, anti-discrimination, competition, privacy
and personal data protection, anti-money laundering
and counter-terrorist financing matters for 2019. The
Compliance Function conducted compliance audits in
2019 to help ensure that departments of the Corporation
maintain robust compliance practices.

To provide transactional support, the Compliance Function
undertook reviews of and participated in the sign-off of
key transactions during the year. It also organised training
to strengthen staff knowledge on compliance matters.
To enhance staff knowledge on compliance matters,
Compliance Function implements an annual compliance
test with different modules for relevant staff from different
departments and subsidiaries of the Corporation.

Code of Conduct

The Corporation requires the highest standards of integrity
and conduct from its staff members. The requirements
and the relevant legal obligations are clearly set out in the
Corporation’s Code of Conduct (Code of Conduct) which
forms part of the Staff Handbook. The Code of Conduct sets
out, in particular, provisions in regard to potential conflict of
interests that may arise between personal interests of staff
members and the interests of the Corporation, and other
provisions designed to ensure that staff carry out their job
duties properly, ethically, impartially and free from any
suggestion of improper influence.

A copy of the Code of Conduct is available on the Corporation’s
intranet to all staff members.
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Staff members are required to give written confirmation of
their compliance with the Code of Conduct on an annual
basis. Based on the confirmation received from the staff
members, Management was satisfied that staff members
had complied with the Code of Conduct in 2019.

Communication

The Corporation attaches great importance to communication
with the public. The Annual Report of the Corporation
contains comprehensive information on its business
strategies and developments. The Corporation’s
website (www.hkmc.com.hk) offers timely access to the
Corporation’s press releases and its business information.
The Corporation also maintains a telephone hotline to
service enquiries from the public.

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Corporation is committed to fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility (CSR). In recognition of its contribution to the
community and commitment to CSR, the Corporation has
been awarded the Caring Organisation Logo by the Hong
Kong Council of Social Service each year since 2008 and is
now in its twelfth year of CSR participation. In appreciation
of employers who place high value on their employees’
retirement needs, the Corporation has received the Good
MPF Employer Award from the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority each year since 2014.

In addition, the Corporation continues to maintain the
Corporation’s website accessible for everyone, including
persons with disabilities such as blindness and deafness.

HKMC Insurance Limited (HKMCI) and HKMC
Annuity Limited (HKMCA)

The Corporate Governance Codes of the HKMCI and the
HKMCA (wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Corporation and

authorised insurers under the Insurance Ordinance to carry
on general insurance business and long term insurance
business in or from Hong Kong respectively) closely follow
the Corporation’s Code, incorporating best corporate
governance practices. During the year, the Board of each
such subsidiary comprises members from the Board of the
Corporation and from the Senior Management of each such
subsidiary. Directors of the HKMCI and the HKMCA were
appointed by the Financial Secretary as ultimate owner of
both subsidiaries. The Audit Committee of each subsidiary
provides regular reporting to the Corporation’s Audit
Committee.

In February 2020, the Chief Internal Auditor of the
Corporation and the Head of Internal Audit of the HKMCA
conducted independent reviews of the Control Self-
assessment Forms provided by each department or
function of the HKMCI and the HKMCA in relation to the
compliance with the Corporate Governance Codes of the
HKMCI and the HKMCA for 2019 respectively. Based on
the audit findings on both subsidiaries’ internal controls
systems and completed Control Self-assessment Forms
for the year, the Chief Internal Auditor of the Corporation
and the Head of Internal Audit of the HKMCA were of the
opinion that the Corporate Governance Codes of the HKMCI
and the HKMCA had been complied with in all material
respects respectively.

Conclusion

The Board was satisfied with the corporate governance
practices of the Corporation during 2019. In 2020,
the Corporation will continue to review its corporate
governance framework and improve those practices as
appropriate in the light of ongoing experience, regulatory
changes, international trends and developments in order
to enhance the Corporation’s efficiency and effective
management in pursuit of its missions.
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The Directors (Directors) of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited (Company) have pleasure in presenting their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company (for
the purpose of this report, together with its subsidiaries and subsidiary
undertakings, Group) for the year ended 31 December 2019 (Financial
Statements).

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group in the course of the year ended 31
December 2019 were:

(@ to purchase portfolios of mortgages or loans secured on
properties or other collateral situated in Hong Kong and to acquire
debentures, receivables, financial assets and choses in action of
all kinds from their originators, issuers, owners or vendors;

(b)  toacquire, by purchase or otherwise, any assets from government
bodies and agencies and related organisations, statutory bodies
and public bodies and to hold, sell, transfer, dispose of and deal in
any such assets so acquired;

() toissue debt securities to investors;

(d to operate a centralised microfinance platform to support
microfinance loans,

(e) tocarry on the infrastructure financing and securitisation business;

(f)  to operate a scheme for the Government providing guarantee
on loans advanced by participating lenders for local non-listed
enterprises, including small and medium enterprises (SMES) and
businesses with less operating history;

(8 to provide mortgage insurance cover in respect of mortgage
loans, reverse mortgage loans and policy reverse mortgage loans
originated by participating lenders and secured on residential
properties, life insurance policies and, if applicable, other assets;
and

(h)  to offer life annuity products in or from Hong Kong.

Details of subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2019 are set
out in Note 20 to the Financial Statements.
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Business Review

1.

Business Segments

In the pursuit of its missions and social objectives, during the
year, the Group operated on prudent commercial principles and
engaged in business activities of loan guarantee, participation,
origination and acquisition, mortgage insurance and life annuity
mainly through the implementation and operation of the
programmes, schemes and businesses below.

Mortgage Purchase Programme (MPP)

One of the missions of the Group is to enhance the stability of
the banking sector in Hong Kong by offering a reliable source
of liquidity. To achieve this mission, the Group stands ready to
purchase mortgage loans and other assets from approved sellers
as and when they have the need to offload. With ample liquidity in
the market during the year, there was low incentive for banks to
offload their assets.

Mortgage Insurance Programme (MIP)

MIP is launched with the aim of promoting home ownership
in Hong Kong by enabling high loan-to-value financing for
homebuyers to reduce their down payment burden. Under the
MIP, the Group acts as insurer to provide mortgage insurance
cover for a premium on mortgage loans advanced by participating
lenders in excess of the lending limits imposed by the Hong
Kong Monetary Authority. Since the inception in March 1999,
the MIP has gained increasing public receptiveness. In 2019, the
total amount of mortgage loans drawn down under the MIP was
HK$33.3 billion (2018: HK$32.5 billion).
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Reverse Mortgage Programme (RMP)

RMP is launched with the aim of providing homeowners with a
new retirement planning option to enhance their quality of life
on retirement. Through reverse mortgage, homeowners could
use their self-use residential properties as collateral in return
for lump-sum payouts and/or a stream of monthly payouts from
participating lenders over a payment term. Under the RMP, the
Group mainly acts as insurer to provide mortgage insurance
cover for a premium on reverse mortgage loans advanced by
participating lenders. With the Group’s ongoing and focused
educational initiatives, market receptiveness to the RMP has been
growing progressively.

Policy Reverse Mortgage Programme (PRMP)

PRMP is launched with the aim of providing retirees with a new
retirement planning option to enhance their quality of life on
retirement. Replicating the business model of the RMP, policy
reverse mortgage enables borrowers to use the death benefits
of their life policies as collateral in return for lump-sum payouts
and/or a stream of monthly payouts from participating lenders
over a payment term. Under the PRMP, the Group mainly acts as
insurer to provide mortgage insurance cover for a premium on
policy reverse mortgage loans advanced by participating lenders.
Community-based promotions on the PRMP were staged during
the year to engage broader segments of the society.

SME Financing Guarantee Scheme (SFGS)

SFGS is a market-based loan guarantee scheme providing 50%
to 70% guarantee on loans advanced by participating lenders
for assisting local non-listed enterprises (including SMES) to
meet their funding needs for working capital or acquisition of
equipment and assets in support of their business operations. As
the Government's continued support for SME bank financing, the
Group continues to operate the 80% guarantee product under
the SFGS (80% SFGS) on the backing of the Government's total
guarantee commitment up to HK$100 billion to enable SMEs
to improve liquidity, grasp economic opportunities and boost
competiveness.
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In 2019, as part of the Government’s successive relief packages for
SMES to tide over the economic downturn, the offer period and the
three 2018 enhancements (namely, annual guarantee rate halved,
maximum facility amount raised and maximum guarantee period
extended) of the 80% SFGS were further extended to mid-2022; a
new enhancement for the 80% SFGS was launched in September
to offer, with a one-year offer period, a renewable principal
moratorium up to twelve months for the whole of the initial and
renewed periods; and the Group timely rolled out, with the offer
period to end in mid-2022, a new 90% guarantee product under
the SFGS on the backing of the Government's total guarantee
commitment up to HK$33 billion to help smaller-sized enterprises
and businesses with relatively less operating experience to obtain
financing.

During the year, the Group maintained close communication with
participating banks, SME associations as well as commerce and
industry chambers and provided regular and tailor-made training
for lenders’ staff members to promote the more active use of the
SFGS.

HKMC Annuity Plan (Plan)

The Plan is launched with the aim of facilitating retirement planning
and promoting the development of the local annuity market. The
Plan provides an alternative retirement financial solution, and
helps the elderly turn their lump sum cash into a stream of fixed
monthly income for life. The Group acts as insurer to offer and
issue annuity policies for a premium under the Plan.

During the year, the Group continued to play an important
role in fostering the development of the local annuity market.
The Group stepped up its promotional and educational efforts
which had successfully raised the public awareness of longevity
risk management and the importance of retirement financial
planning, thereby contributing to the rapid development of the
local annuity market. The Plan underwent ongoing enhancements
(including increase of maximum premium amount and a six-month
premium discount campaign) to better serve the needs of the
aging population. The annuity business of the Group recorded a
noticeable growth of HK$1.6 billion in premium receipts, reaching
an accumulated premium receipt amount of HK$4.4 billion in 2019
since its launch in mid-2018.
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Infrastructure Financing and Securitisation (IFS)

The new IFS business will enable the Group to leverage its strong
credit standing and medium-to-long term funding capability
to further its mandates of promoting the long-term stability of
banking sector and development of debt market in Hong Kong by
facilitating infrastructure investment and financing flows against
the enormous and widening funding gap in the international
infrastructure financing market.

During the year, the Group started the new IFS business and
carried out the approved business plan based on prudent
commercial principles and under a robust risk management
framework.

Microfinance Scheme (MFS)

MFS is launched with the aim of offering loans at affordable rates
and ancillary supporting services to eligible persons who wish to
start their own businesses, become self-employed or achieve self-
enhancement through training, upgrading of skills or obtaining
professional certification. As approved by the Directors, the MFS
expired and ceased to accept application at the end of 2019.

Market Environment

The global economy experienced a synchronised slowdown in
2019, beset with considerable downward pressures from an array
of factors including the escalation of US-China trade tensions, risk
of a hard Brexit and heightened geopolitical tensions in the Middle
East. Economic growth in the US eased and that in the euro area
was modest. The Mainland economy attained its growth target,
although with a decelerated growth momentum.

Faced with significant external headwinds, the Hong Kong
economy was already quite weak in the first half of 2019.
Aggravated by the severe blow from the local social incidents, the
economy deteriorated abruptly in the second half of the year and
recorded its first annual contraction since 2009. The residential
property market has been consolidating since June after staying
generally active during the first five months of 2019. Yet, the
downward adjustment had been moderate and property prices
were still out of line with economic fundamentals and affordability
of the general public.
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Financial Performance

Profit attributable to shareholder increased to HK$317 million
(2018: HK$127 million). The increase in profitability was primarily
attributable to the decrease in the accounting loss as a result
of the decrease in provisions for maintaining prudent statutory
reserves based on actuarial assumptions for the Group’s annuity
business along with lower business intake during the year and
the increase in investment return on the placements with the
Exchange Fund. Notwithstanding that, the increase in profit
was partly offset by additional resources utilised for the Group’s
missions and certain policy initiatives of the Government.
Accordingly, return on equity was 2.1% (2018: 0.9%) while cost-to-
income ratio decreased to 58.7% (2018: 86%). Despite the reported
accounting loss on annuity business, the embedded value of the
annuity business was about HK$5.3 billion, indicating that the
business should be profitable in the long term. A summary of the
Group'’s financial performance is set out below.
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Profit attributable to 317 127
shareholder (HK$ million)

Return on shareholder’s equity 2.1% 0.9%

Cost-to-income ratio? 58.7% 86.0%

Capital adequacy ratio® 30.2% 26.8%

! Return on shareholder’s equity is calculated by dividing profit attributable to
shareholder with the average of twelve month-end balances of capital and
reserves attributable to equity holder.

2 Cost-to-income ratio is calculated by dividing operating expenses with the
sum of operating income, net claims incurred, benefits paid, movement in
policyholders’ liabilities, and net commission and levy expenses.

g Capital adequacy ratio is calculated as the ratio of the capital base to the sum
of the risk-weighted amount for credit risk, market risk and operational risk
exposures.

8 After excluding the accounting loss as a result of maintaining prudent statutory

reserves based on actuarial assumptions for annuity business by the HKMC
Annuity Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the adjusted
profit attributable to shareholder, return on shareholder’s equity and cost-to-
income ratio for 2019 would be HK$443 million, 4.2% and 41.8% respectively
(2018: HK$515 million, 5.1% and 36.7% respectively).
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Key items in the Group’s income statement for 2019 are
highlighted as follows:

(@)

net interest income for the year decreased by HK$12 million
to HK$524 million, mainly due to the reduction of average
mortgage loan portfolio as a result of loan repayment
and prepayment, partially cushioned by the purchase
of infrastructure loans during the year and increase in
other average interest-earning assets (i.e. cash and debt
investments),

net mortgage insurance premiums earned were HK$196
million (2018: HK$222 million);

net insurance-related results for annuity business (i.e. the
sum of net premiums earned, net claims incurred, benefits
paid, movement in policyholders’ liabilities, and commission
and levy expenses) recorded a loss of HK$387 million
(2018: HK$550 million), mainly attributable to the prudent
statutory reserves based on actuarial assumptions, whereas
investment returns on capital and premiums placed with the
Exchange Fund were booked to other income;

other income was HK$465 million (2018: HK$250 million),
mainly representing investment income of HK$465 million
(2018: HK$185 million) from placements with the Exchange
Fund, net gain of HK$33 million (2018: net loss of HK$14
million) on investments at fair value through profit or loss,
dividend income of HK$20 million (2018: HK$59 million) from
investments, and exchange loss of HK$38 million (2018: gain
of HK$12 million); and

operating expenses were HK$480 million, less than budget,
to support the Group’s missions and the Government’s
certain policy initiatives.
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Financial Position

As at 31 December 2019, total assets of the Group amounted to
HK$67.5 billion. Key changes in the Group's financial position are
as follows:

@)

cash and short-term funds slightly decreased by HK$1.5
billion to HK$27.9 billion;

investment portfolio slightly increased by HK$0.1 billion to
HK$17.3 billion, representing a total investment of HK$0.4
billion in exchange-traded bond funds and in real estate
investment trusts classified as investments at fair value
through profit or loss, and debt investments of HK$12.0
billion classified as amortised cost investments and of
HK$4.9 billion classified as investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income;

placements with the Exchange Fund amounted to HK$12.9
billion as capital investments of HKMC Insurance Limited
(HKMCI) and HKMC Annuity Limited (HKMCA) and premium
investments of the HKMCA,;

loan portfolio recorded an increment of HK$0.5 billion
to HK$6.9 billion, mainly attributable to purchase of
infrastructure loans, partially offset by the repayment and
prepayment of mortgage loan portfolio;

outstanding balance of debt securities issued increased by
HK$2.4 billion to HK$39.7 billion;

insurance liabilities were HK$6.5 billion (2018: HK$4.6 billion),
primarily due to the increase in insurance liabilities for
annuity business;

capital and reserves attributable to equity holder increased
by HK$0.3 billion to HK$15.2 billion; and

major off-balance sheet exposures were risk-in-force of the
MIP and of the RMP. Exposures borne by the Group after
ceding to the approved reinsurers for the MIP and the RMP
were respectively HK$23.1 billion (2018: HK$19.7 billion) and
HK$11.2 billion (2018: HK$9.6 billion). The RMP reinsurance
arrangement started in 2019.

EHREREERAT —T—AEEH 143



EEWRE Directors’ Report

BEXxER

FA - RERAEERERASHLHITER
HEBLEERBERETSERBERR
AEBERETEATRIEERESER
WEFH B AR RSREERBBE AR
BRRANEARTRERTAELNEART
exigsl([4EalD) -

RIS EAFRXNFETDRENS
EROGEEE  BNBRARBZREN
K8 A E (AMRERE R RMFEE AR W
EOZRBEEE RRENERERRA
BBTEEBBRERAREANEERR)

Bk ME T T AR e NS RE M E R RMIE
BRAE REBR-_ZT—HLE+ A
=+ —HMELRREERFFIN2%(=ZF
—\F+ZA=+—H :268%) KMi=fiEK
FomERIESIREANS% KL E - N=
T—NE+_A=1+—8 BERRAF
MESREEBNEMNEE TR ERMRXEL
AERF(ZE—N\F+=—A=+—H8:42
BIR2E(CE—NEF+=_A=+—8:
341F) BRRRREEE RS RIRETE
7 200% A1 150% KA TE B3k o

FEEEHHEEEERTARE
=

AEERMAENEAR  REBBEREE
R RBRE BEERER TEEX
MERBERNREMFNERNIKEESE
EWMEERR - ARETR X ZRE M
MEFTEHNE  BERERSRER 7T
RESEBHAZRS mEERBES
B R-ZF—NF AEERREBEAE
BEN REARBARMEEERR - It
SN - AN SR R (R AE F TS 2 B T T 5
B ERENERABREEEABRREBL
[\ Bz

BE-T-NFI-A=+—RILEER -
PR ) B R SR8 S R IR B B
HRHRES -

Capital Management

During the year, to ensure that the Group would not incur excess
risk when expanding its business and balance sheet in proportion
to its capital base, the Group closely monitored capital adeguacy
and use of capital, and complied with the Guidelines on Capital
Adequacy Ratio (Guidelines) issued by the Financial Secretary
with reference to Basel Il risk-based capital adequacy framework.

In accordance with the Guidelines, the calculation of capital
adequacy ratio (CAR) follows the basis of consolidation for
financial reporting with the exclusion of regulated subsidiaries
of the Company (i.e. the HKMCI and the HKMCA, both being
authorized insurers regulated by the Insurance Authority and
subject to respective statutory requirements of maintaining
adequate capital).

Excluding the investment cost of these two unconsolidated
regulated subsidiaries, the CAR of the Group remained solid at
30.2% as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 26.8%), well
above the minimum ratio of 8% stipulated in the Guidelines. The
respective solvency ratios of the HKMCI and the HKMCA as at
31 December 2019 were about 39 times (31 December 2018: 42
times) and 22 times (31 December 2018: 34 times), well above
the respective 200% and 150% minimum statutory requirements
stipulated by the Insurance Authority.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties facing the Group

The Group is exposed to the credit risk of its loan and investment
portfolios through mortgage purchase, mortgage insurance,
commercial loan guarantee, funding of retail loans and capital
investment. The Group is also exposed to interest rate, property
price and longevity risks under the reverse mortgage and related
business, and takes on longevity, market and liquidity risks
under its annuity business. In 2019, the Group started to take on
infrastructure loans which are exposed to project financing credit
risk. Furthermore, the Group assumes market risk, mainly the
interest rate risk and the asset-liability maturity mismatch risk, for
facilitating the business operation.

The risk exposures and the financial risk management during
the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in Note 3 to the
Financial Statements.
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The Group’s Environmental Policies and Performance

During the year, the Group continued to support and implement
various green measures to create a more environmentally friendly
office and to raise employees’ awareness of methods of waste
reduction and energy conservation.

The Group’s Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations
that have a Significant Impact on the Group

During the year, there were no relevant laws and regulations
relating to the environment that have a significant impact on the
Group.

Particulars of Important Events affecting the Group that
have occurred since end 2019

As announced in the 2020-21 Budget and in early April 2020,
as part of its counter-cyclical measures, the Government
commissioned the Group to launch: (a) a new 100% guarantee
product under the SFGS with a twelve-month offer period to
support SME bank financing on the backing of the Government’s
total guarantee commitment up to HK$50 billion, (b) further
enhancements to the 80% and 90% guarantee products under
the SFGS, and (c) a pilot scheme to purchase fixed-rate residential
mortgages in Hong Kong in an aggregate loan amount up to HK$1
billion. Notwithstanding the launch of such new SFGS product
and enhancements and pilot scheme may increase the related
operating costs of the Group, the Group will continue to render full
support to the Government in administering the 80% SFGS and the
other new SFGS products as well as the pilot scheme for fixed-rate
mortgage purchase. Please also refer to Note 32 to the Financial
Statements for any other relevant important events.
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10.

11.

Indication of Likely Future Developments in the Group’s
Business

The Group will continue with its existing multi-faceted businesses
and develop new enhancements, products and schemes as
commissioned by the Government to attain its core missions and
social objectives. In addition, the Group will continue to maintain
its prudent pre-funding strategy to stand ready to provide liquidity
to the local banking sector when needed.

The Group’s Key Relationships with Its Employees and
Counterparties that have a Significant Impact on the
Group and on which the Group’s Success Depends

Employees

During the year, the Group continued to provide employees
with competitive remuneration packages and fringe benefits,
a promising career path and development opportunities, and
a healthy and safe working environment. Through system
automation and process re-engineering, the Group maintained a
lean and efficient workforce, despite an increase in the scope of
operations and the complexity of the products it offered.

The Group recognised the importance of ongoing staff training
and had devoted considerable resources to the continuing
enhancement of its employees’ professional knowledge and skills.
All new employees were provided with an induction session to
provide them with a foundation of knowledge about the Group’s
organisational structure, missions, functions and policies.

As at 31 December 2019, the permanent staff establishment of the
Group was 327 (2018: 309) and the staff turnover rate was 9.37%
(2018: 8.92%).

Counterparties

With respect to its loan and insurance portfolios, as at 31
December 2019, the Group maintained a panel of 34 approved
sellers and 32 approved servicers under the MPP, 7 approved
reinsurers under the MIP as well as 4 non-governmental
organisations under the MFS. In addition, there were 20
participating lenders under the MIP, 10 under the RMP, 6 under the
PRMP, 5 under the MFS and 31 under the SFGS. In relation to the
annuity business, there were 20 agent banks and 3 referral banks
for the Plan at the end of the year.
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Debt Securities

The Company issued notes with a total nominal value of HK$31.9 billion
under its multi-currency US$6é Billion Medium Term Note Programme
for a consideration of around HK$31.8 billion during the year ended 31
December 2019. The proceeds of the notes issued during the year were
used for the purpose of providing general working capital for the Group.
A summary of the debt securities issuance and redemption activities of
the Group is set out in Note 26 to the Financial Statements.

Dividend

Having considered the capital requirements for the business
development, Directors recommended that no dividend be declared for
2019 (2018: Nil).

Directors

Persons who served as Directors during the year or during the period
beginning with the end of the year and ending on the date of this report,
but preceding the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
are as follows:

The Hon. Paul CHAN Mo-po, GBM, GBS, MH, JP
Chairman and Executive Director

Mr Eddie YUE Wai-man, jp
Deputy Chairman and Executive Director
(designated as Deputy Chairman on 1 October 2019)

Mr Howard LEE Tat-chi, jp
Executive Director (appointed on 1 October 2019)

Mr Raymond LI Ling-cheung, i
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

The Hon. James Henry LAU Jr., p
Non-Executive Director

The Hon. Frank CHAN Fan, Jr
Non-Executive Director

The Hon. Jeffrey LAM Kin-fung, css, I
Non-Executive Director
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The Hon. Horace CHEUNG Kwok-kwan, jp
Non-Executive Director

The Hon. Dennis KWOK Wing-hang
Non-Executive Director

Professor CHAN Ka-keung Ceajer, GBS,
Non-Executive Director

Ms Anita FUNG Yuen-mei, BBs, JP
Non-Executive Director

Mr Albert WONG Kwai Huen, Bss, Jp
Non-Executive Director

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing
Non-Executive Director (appointed on 17 May 2019)

Mr Leong CHEUNG
Non-Executive Director

Mr Norman CHAN Tak-lam, GBs, )P
Deputy Chairman and Executive Director (resigned on 1 October 2019)

Professor WONG Yuk-shan, sgs, 8BS, I
Non-Executive Director (retired on 17 May 2019)

Mr Thomas Brian STEVENSON, Ggs, Jp
Non-Executive Director (retired on 17 May 2019)

Ms Estella WONG Sheun-fun (alias Mrs CHIU, Estella Sheun-fun)
Non-Executive Director (retired on 17 May 2019)

In accordance with Article 109 of the Company's Articles of Association,
all those Directors who are not Executive Directors shall retire but shall
be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Other than the Directors named above, persons who (or as the case
may be, entities which) served on the boards (or as the case may be, the
sole director) of the other members of the Group during the year and
during the period beginning with the end of the year and ending on the
date of this report are Mr Norman CHAN Tak-lam (resigned), Mr Eddie
YUE Wai-man, Mr Howard LEE Tat-chi, Mr Raymond LI Ling-cheung,
Mr YUNG Wai-sun, Mr Leong CHEUNG, Ms Estella WONG Sheun-fun (alias
Mrs CHIU, Estella Sheun-fun), Mr Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, Mr Lawrence
LAW Hong-ping, Ms Juliana LAM Lai-ha, Mr LAU Ying-pan (resigned),
Mrs Agnes KOON WOO Kam-oi, Ms Agnes TSO Miu-yue, Mr Kenneth
YU Yuk-wing, Ms LEUNG Ching-han, Mr Mansion CHENG Man-shun,
Mr LIU Chi-keung, Mr Desmond CHENG Kam-chuen, Ms CHEUNG,
Feliciana Siu Wai, Mrs SENG SZE Ka Mee Natalia (resigned), Ms LO Yee
Har Susan (resigned), Ms CHOY Yee Man (also served as Alternate
Director to Ms HO Siu Pik), Ms HO Siu Pik (also served as Alternate
Director to Ms CHOY Yee Man), Intertrust Directors (Cayman) Limited
and Company Kit Secretarial Services Limited.

Permitted Indemnity

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors was in force during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and is in force as at the date of this report.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2019, there subsisted
or entered into any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Company’s business, to which any member of the
Group was a party, and in which any person who was a Director at any
time during the year or a connected entity (as defined in the Companies
Ordinance) of any such person had, directly or indirectly, a material
interest.
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Auditor
The Financial Statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers

who will retire, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for reappointment,
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chan Mo-po, Paul
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
27 April 2020
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To the Sole Member of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of The Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 159 to 273, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended,

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.
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Key Audit Matter

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'S
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
o Impairment allowances on loan portfolios
o Measurement of insurance contract liabilities

BN ESA NARERRENSE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EXEASHNRERSE

Impairment allowances on loan portfolios
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Our audit procedures in relation to management’'s ECL
assessment on the loan portfolios included the following:

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial

Statements.
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Understanding and evaluating the internal controls
relating to the measurement of ECL;
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Testing of the controls that management has established
over the valuation of collateral;

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
loan impairment allowances of HK$1,588,000
relating to the gross mortgage loan portfolio of
HK$4,910,217,000 and the gross non-mortgage loan
portfolio of HK$2,019,416,000 (2018: HK$666,000,
HK$6,179,353,000 and HK$263,377,000, respectively).
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The Group built an expected credit losses (“ECL")
model for estimating impairment allowances
on its loan portfolio. The Group also established
governance process and controls for the
measurement of impairment allowances of the loan
portfolio.
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Impairment allowances on the loan portfolios
represent management’ s best estimate of the
expected losses within the loan portfolios as at the
balance sheet date. Allowances for impairment are
made for loans with significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and for loans that are credit
impaired with reference to the life time expected
credit losses. Allowances for impairment are made
for performing loans with reference to the 12-month
expected credit losses. These allowances are
based on reasonable and supportable information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future events and economic conditions at the
reporting date.
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The audit focused on loan impairment allowances
because both the determination of the expected
impairment and the underlying calculations are
inherently subject to significant judgement by
management.
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Performing independent sample checking of the
collateral’s value to various external independent
valuation quotes to the extent available;
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For loans with significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and for loans that are credit impaired,
assessing a sample of these loans for timely identification
and for testing the corresponding impairment calculation;
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Assessing the overall reasonableness of the ECL as at 31
December 2019.
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We found that management’s judgements used in calculating
the expected impairment were supported by the evidence
obtained.
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We also found that the models and assumptions used in
calculating the impairment allowances on the loan portfolios
were supported by the available evidence.
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Measurement of insurance liabilities
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Refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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HKMC Annuity Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) has launched the HKMC Annuity Plan
(the “Plan”™) in July 2018 and it has issued insurance
contracts with premiums amounting to HK$1,631
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$2,780 million). The issuance of the policies
under the Plan has given rise to the recognition of
insurance contract liabilities on the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group based on
HKFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” and the Hong Kong
insurance regulatory requirements. The liabilities
recognised amounted to HK$5,027 million (2018:
HK$3,284 million), being approximately 10% of the
total consolidated liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2019 (2018: 7%).

BRI A WA BN EMELNETEFRIETSAR

Our audit procedures in relation to the measurement of
insurance contract liabilities included the following:

o  FHEASRBANABBEREBENNIRIES

Evaluating the internal controls over the actuarial process
of the valuation of life insurance contract liabilities.

EREANERHASHABEEROSET - RAHRRA
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With the involvement of our PwC actuarial experts, we have
carried out the following procedures in relation to the insurance
contract liabilities:

o FHEFTRAM A AR B R BB RBET ER
Assessing the appropriateness of the methodologies

adopted against the Hong Kong insurance regulatory
requirements;
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The valuation of insurance contract liabilities requires
the use of appropriate actuarial methodologies, and
also various investments return and operational
assumptions that are subject to a high degree
of management’ s judgement. Therefore, this is
identified as a key audit matter in our audit. There
are inherent uncertainties in the estimation of
future policyholder benefits as at the balance sheet
date. The key assumptions used in measuring the
insurance contract liabilities related to the Plan
include valuation interest rates and mortality rates.
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Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
used including the valuation interest rate and mortality
rates, and management'’s rationale for the judgment
applied; and

o FHMERBRENEBEEMNSEN-

Evaluating the overall reasonableness of the insurance
contract liabilities.
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Based on the work performed, we considered the key
assumptions and methodologies appropriate for the valuation
of the insurance contract liabilities.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is

a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in @ manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 April 2020
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Consolidated Income Statement

BE-Z-NE+-A=+—-HLEE
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2018
BT
HK$'000
FE A Interest income 6 1,470,479 1,229,710
B H Interest expense 7 (946,488) (693,501)
EER B2 WA Net interest income 523,991 536,209
EomElRE FEE Net premiums earned 8 1,987,650 3,157,652
E A Other income 9 465,397 249,633
KEW AT Total operating income 2,977,038 3,943,494
RRELFHE  ENFEK Net claims incurred, benefits paid and
IREFE ABBEES) movement in policyholders’ liabilities 8 (2,021,558) (3,321,037)
ey FaEaEEST T Net commission and levy expenses 8 (138,361) (142,991)
Pt Operating expenses 10 (479,651) (412,388)
RETBE AT A LR 205 Tl Operating profit before impairment 337,468 67,078
R E R Charge of impairment allowances 12 (934) (134)
BREE RIS F Profit before taxation 336,534 66,944
I8 Taxation 13(a) (19,073) 59,614
REE R Profit for the year 317,461 126,558

16522738 Fisifi st A B EHRERN—385 - The notes on pages 165 to 273 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BE-Z-NE+ZA=+—-HLEE
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2018
T
HK$'000
REE A Profit for the year 317,461 126,558
Hit2mE s : Other comprehensive income:
HEWEEF > BEER Items that are or may be reclassified
FIER : subsequently to profit or loss:
AP EZ L AR 2 EIES  Debt instruments at fair value through
MEKTAE : other comprehensive income
— A EEH)FRE — change in the fair value, net 27,311 (7,182)
— IR EEE TR — change in the loss allowance, net 12 (46) 14
ANEFHEMEEWZS(EE) ©  Other comprehensive income/(10ss)
EHIBRTIE for the year, net of tax 27,265 (7,168)
AEERHEIKNFHEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 344,726 119,390

F165273E FRE s Atr A IR —565 - The notes on pages 165 to 273 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZZ-NAF+=A=+—H
as at 31 December 2019

EE ASSETS
RENEHES Cash and short-term funds 14 27,908,184 29,390,855
FE W R B % FE SR Interest and remittance receivables il5 518,691 437,919
TESRIEA Derivative financial instruments 16 200,702 161,047
,\TJ\ 4575 Loan portfolio, net 17 6,928,045 6,442,064
BHEE Investment securities:
— ARFEE(EET AEAD — fair value through other
2EWER comprehensive income 18(a) 4,920,402 5,091,664
— AAFEE{ AR — fair value through profit or loss 18(b) 378,803 543,612
— IREESH P AT IR — amortised cost 18(c) 12,034,506 11,546,833
INE RS TF R Placements with the Exchange Fund 19 12,881,627 7,734,934
BNEE - we RHEMEE Prepayments, deposits and other assets 21 1,337,349 829,491
TRIEF IR E B Deferred tax assets 13(b) 79,170 77,866
BREEE Reinsurance assets 25 208,991 171,518
BEEE&E Fixed assets 22 109,864 53,766
EEMAE Total assets 67,506,334 62,481,569
=N LIABILITIES
&~ R B Interest payable 23 372,874 257,468
FETIRIE « ENAX Accounts payable, accrued expenses
REMEE and other liabilities 24 5,261,217 5,061,679
MESHTA Derivative financial instruments 16 299,935 264,386
SHANIE A& Current tax liabilities 13(b) 123,115 104,077
R B E Insurance liabilities 25 6,501,639 4,607,373
BRITERE S Debt securities issued 26 39,710,963 37,292,877
BEHEE Total liabilities 52,269,743 47,587,860
= EQUITY
EE=FA AEIHRA Capital and reserves attributable to
N the equity holder:
A&7 Share capital 27 7,000,000 7,000,000
RE & A Retained profits 6,553,108 6,263,342
B Contingency reserve 1,658,669 1,632,818
N {ERFE Fair value reserve 24,814 (2,451)
AR Total equity 15,236,591 14,893,709
EEREREE Total liabilities and equity 67,506,334 62,481,569
EEREN-_ZE-_TFNA_++BHENRIZERE  Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 April
7T o 2020.
REX Eddie W. M. Yue =S Raymond L. C. Li

EFEFSTEFE Deputy Chairman and Executive Director

F165E273E BT REr A MR HRERA —#D -

H7TEEFMEE Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

The notes on pages 165 to 273 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-Z-NE+ZA=+—-HLEE
for the year ended 31 December 2019

R REEF Bt ATERE okl
Share Retained Contingency Fair value
capital profits reserve reserve Total

TR TR TAL TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZE-N\E-A—-B&H Balance as at 1 January 2018 2,000,000 6,089,765 1,679,837 4,717 9,774,319
RERET Profit for the year - 126,558 - - 126,558
HiveEkE Other comprehensive income - - - (7,168) (7,168)
TEE2ENRER Total comprehensive income for the year = 126,558 = (7,168) 119,390
TE (it 27) Capital injection (Note 27) 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000

HRERFNEACHBERREE  Transfer of 50% or 75% of net risk premium
SFEM50% 3k 75% 2R earned from retained profits to

contingency reserve - (209,261) 209,261 = =
HERREREDEREET Release of contingency reserve to

retained profits - 256,280 (256,280) = =
R-ZT-N\F+-A=1+—HB#%&#% Balance as at 31 December 2018 7,000,000 6,263,342 1,632,818 (2,457) 14,893,709
Nﬁq% B REEDIZE 1654 Changes on adoption of HKFRS 16 (Note 2.1)

"""" (ME2.1) - (1,844) - - (1,844)
RZE-nE-R—-BEEFEE  Restated balance as at 1 January 2019 7,000,000 6,261,498 1,632,818 (2,451) 14,891,865
KEE R Profit for the year - 317,461 - - 317,461
A2 AN Other comprehensive income - - - 27,265 27,265
rEEEAKGER Total comprehensive income for the year - 317,461 - 27,265 344,726

HRZENEADHEEREE  Transfer of 50% or 75% of net risk premium
SRR 50% 3k 75% R E earned from retained profits to

contingency reserve - (189,875) 189,875 - -
HEBREERDERERT Release of contingency reserve to

retained profits - 164,024 (164,024) - -
R-Z-hE+=-A=1+—HA#%%& Balance as at 31 December 2019 7,000,000 6,553,108 1,658,669 24,814 15,236,591

16522738 Fisliif st A A HRERN—35 »  The notes on pages 165 to 273 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-Z-NE+-A=+—-HLEE
for the year ended 31 December 2019

f@“‘%i’%z}ﬁﬁﬁi cash flows from operating activities
=il Operating profit 336,534 66,944
AT SIBELATEE Adjustment for:
A2 A Interest income (1,476,616) (1,243,385)
FEZH Interest expense 881,654 632,864
& B WA Dividend income 9 (20,019) (58,626)
REINEESFRA W Income from placements with
the Exchange Fund 9 (464,693) (184,934)
e Depreciation 10 81,037 19,371
BT ESE AT R Amortisation of discount on
debt securities issued 64,834 60,637
B R Charge of impairment allowances 12 934 134
BT E R E Amortisation of premium on
investment securities 6,137 13,675
AEEE(LEABEIRE Net (gain)/loss on investments at
(H&zﬁn) SR FEE fair value through profit or loss 9 (33,037) 13,500
SR TAAFEED) Change in fair value of
financial instruments (7,372) (10,947)
HENUAFEEZ LT AEAM Net gain on disposal of investment
ZHE AR E W TR at fair value through other
comprehensive income 9 (75) -
S R SR AT IR A I E Net gain on disposal of investment
W36 %58 at amortised cost - (192)
HEBRTEENEER Loss on disposal of fixed assets 510 =
24 F B Interest received 1,381,156 1,148,331
B LA Interest paid (766,248) (567,529)
KRR EE N B EEER] Cash flows from operating activities before
REEEMSIRESRE changes in operating assets and liabilities (15,264) (110,157)
REHA BB =18 A & & Change in time deposits with original
TR maturity of more than three months (1,338,000) (4,422,000)
P 1 b 5k Change in remittance receivables 14,688 1,113
FERRIE - e REMEE Change in prepayments, deposits and
= other assets (510,798) (762,688)
BERHEEEH Change in loan portfolio (486,895) 1,387,357
FEAIRTE « RS R E A Change in accounts payable, accrued
BEEE expenses and other liabilities 152,718 (301,584)
RpAEZFEED Change in insurance liabilities, net 1,856,793 3,470,306
PEE W, = =8 Exchange differences 71,088 (11,553)
REEXBER RS Cash used in operation (255,670) (749,206)
DAt R E Taxation paid (1,339) (29,817)
4 K i (5 B~ TH & ST Net cash used in operating activities (257,009) (779,023)

EERBESERLAT —T-NEFHR 163



HAWERER Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2019 2018
Bt =E FET T4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
REFHZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEETETEE Purchase of fixed assets 22 (38,337) (38,808)
BE uﬂwam bar AEAth Purchase of investment securities at
FHRENELFEE fair value through other
comprehensive income (1,679,612) (1,307,246)
BEUAFEZ(LET AR Purchase of investment securities at
HBHIZE fair value through profit or loss - (16,644)
8 B F SHAK ARSI IR /Y Purchase of investment securities
BHEE at amortised cost (2,176,283) (1,855,361)
& MERIEHIE ARG Proceeds from sale and redemption of
IR investment securities 3,675,539 3,465,235
INE RS TF K Placements with the Exchange Fund (4,682,000) (7,550,000)
B ETRERE Dividend received from listed
investments 20,019 58,626
B EEER 2S5 Net cash used in investing activities (4,880,674) (7,244,1998)
RS EEATR R R Net cash outflows before financing (5,137,683) (8,023,221)
RMETEH2RERE cash flows from financing activities
SRITIE R PTISFRIE Proceeds from bank borrowings 25,418,080 27,467,772
1§ BIRTTIER Repayment of bank borrowings (25,417,451) (27,467,772)
BITEIBESHTS ,TJA’IE Proceeds from issue of debt securities 26 31,843,819 34,006,865
i E%;l%fﬂf?rk— Redemption of debt securities issued 26 (29,474,462) (31,289,536)
HENRAAES Principal elements of lease payments (51,392) -
B FTE IR Proceeds from capital injection 27 - 5,000,000
BhESEBIEL 2RSS FRE Net cash generated from
financing activities 2,318,594 7,717,329
HeRkERERLER Net decrease in cash and
A EEE cash equivalents (2,819,089) (305,892)
FPREFERELEH Beginning cash and cash equivalents 14,777,801 15,086,190
EXHRERERRLER Effect of exchange rates on cash
=44 and cash equivalents (1,529) (2,497)
FRESRERESIER Ending cash and cash equivalents 14 11,957,183 14,777,801

F165E273E FTEMiE Al a M EHRE—565 o The notes on pages 165 to 273 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of The Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited (Company) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the Group) have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ((HKFRSs) which is a collective
term and includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRS), Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(HKASs) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
financial instruments) carried at fair value.

The accounting policies and the methods of computation used
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
Stated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1. Adoption of HKFRSs

New and amended standards effective on 1 January

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 supersedes HKAS 17 “Leases”,
HK(IFRIC) 4 “"Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease”, HK(SIC) 15
“Operating Leases-Incentives” and HK(SIC)
27 "Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease”. The
standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to
account for all leases under a single on-balance
sheet model. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors
will continue to classify leases as either operating
or finance leases using similar principles as in
HKAS 17.

The Group adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the
date of initial application of 1 January 2019.
Under this method, the standard is applied
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
initially applying the standard recognised at the
date of initial application. The Group elected to
use the transition practical expedient allowing
the standard to be applied only to contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) 4 at the date of initial
application. The Group also elected to use the
recognition exemptions for lease contracts that,
at the commencement date, have a lease term of
12 months or less and do not contain a purchase
option (short-term leases), and lease contracts
for which the underlying asset is of low value
(leases of low-value assets).



IR & 7B B 7% 5 2 A
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BB FIWEET

R-—ZE—AE—H—H
BN E 7S B 7% i & Bl
FI6HRAFZENT ¢

In accordance with the transitional provisions of
HKFRS 16, comparative figures have not been
restated.

The effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 as at 1
January 2019 is as follows:

8,
(R 2)
Increase/
(decrease)
F#ET
HK$'000
BE Assets
BE&E Fixed assets
— FREEE — Right-of-use assets 105,090
— HEMEEE — Leasehold improvement (5,782)
BNEE - e RHEMEE Prepayments, deposits and other assets
— fEftFE — Prepayments (2,940)
96,368
aE Liabilities
FERIRIE - FENBZ REMEAE Accounts payable, accrued expenses
and other liabilities
—HEaE — Lease liabilities 97,165
— B — Provisions 1,047
98,212
s Equity
R A Retained profits (1,844)
AEENYEHREESD The Group has property lease contracts mainly
FERBBREWE - R for office premises. Before the adoption of
RN & 7S B 75 i & ZE A HKFRS 16, the Group classified leases (as lessee)

F165 2 AT - ANEE (1
BEMAAN) KRG BB
HENHEAKERE -
ERERETR HED
EXTEANE BEH
REREPRIREFE
REZPHERAEHEE S
o ERBENTEE K IE
& H BIETENFA
RIER RSB TR o

at the inception date as an operating lease. In
an operating lease, the leased property was
not capitalised and the lease payments were
recognised as rent expense in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any
prepaid rent and accrued rent were recognised
under prepayments and accrued expenses,
respectively.
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Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group applied a
single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases. The standard provides specific
transition requirements which has been applied
by the Group. In applying HKFRS 16 for the first
time, the Group has used the following practical
expedients permitted by the standard:

o applying a single discount rate to a
portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics;

o relying on previous assessments on
whether leases are onerous as alternative
to performing an impairment review —
there were no onerous contracts as at 1
January 2019;

o excluding initial direct costs for the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at
the date of initial application; and

o using hindsight in determining the lease
term where the contract contains options
to extend or terminate the lease.
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The Group recognised right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for those leases previously
classified as operating leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
right-of-use assets were recognised based on the
carrying amount as if the standard had always
been applied, apart from the use of incrementa
borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
Lease liabilities were recognised based on the
present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing
rate of 2.5% at the date of initial application. The
incremental borrowing rate is the rate that the
Group would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a
similar economic environment with similar terms
and conditions.

The operating lease commitments disclosed as
at 31 December 2018 were HK$104 million. Upon
the adoption of HKFRS16 on 1 January 2019, the
right-of-use assets recognised were HK$105
million while the lease liabilities recognised were
HK$97 million. The differences between the
operating lease commitments discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate and the total
lease liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 mainly related to
prepaid lease payments.
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The other standards and amendments effective in 2019
have no material impact on the Group.
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New standards and amendments issued but not yet
effective

A number of new standards and amendments to
standards are effective for annual periods beginning
after 1 January 2019, and have not been applied in
preparing these consolidated financial statements.
None of these is expected to have a significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group,
except the following set out below:

. HKFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” establishes
a comprehensive global insurance standard
which provides guidance on the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosures
of insurance contracts. The standard requires
entities to measure insurance contract liabilities
at their current fulfilment values. The Group is
yet to assess the full impact of the standard on
its financial position and results of operations.
The new standard is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 and will
be applied retrospectively with restatement of
comparatives unless impracticable. However,
HKICPA is considering delaying the mandatory
implementation date by one year and may make
additional changes to the standard. At this stage,
the Group does not intend to adopt the standard
before its effective date.

There are no other HKFRSs that are not yet effective
that would be expected to have a material impact on
the Group.
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2.2. Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December 2019.

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities used
for issuing mortgage-backed securities, namely HKMC
Funding Corporation (1) Limited and Bauhinia MBS Limited)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interests in that subsidiary,
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the
investment in the subsidiaries is stated at cost less provision
for impairment allowances. The results of the subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.
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2:3.

2.4,

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income
statement for all interest bearing financial instruments using
the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and
of allocating the interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument
or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument but does not consider expected credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other
premiums or discounts.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Other income other than those arising from
insurance and guarantee contracts under Note 2.21

(@) Feeincome

Fees are generally recognised on an accrual basis
when the service has been provided. Upfront
arrangement fees that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate are recognised as an adjustment
to the effective interest rate in determining interest
income on the loans.
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Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

Income from placements with the Exchange Fund

Changes in fair value of the placements with the
Exchange Fund classified as “financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss” is recognised as income or
loss in the year in which they arise.

2.5. Financial assets

@)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income
(OCl), or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in debt instruments, this will depend on
the business model in which the investment is held.

The Group has classified the placements with the
Exchange Fund as financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

The Group reclassifies investment securities when

and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed
in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Subsequent measurement of the Group’s financial
assets are classified into the following categories,
depending on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset:

. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subseqguently measured at amortised cost and is
not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or
impaired.
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o Fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI): Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through OCI,
except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in OClI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains or losses.

. Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL): Assets
that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or l0oss
on investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in profit or loss and presented net
in the income statement within other gains or
losses in the period in which it arises.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses (ECLS) associated with its assets
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.2
provides more details of how the ECLS is measured.
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2.6. Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified into two categories: financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other
financial liabilities. All the financial liabilities are classified at
inception and recognised initially at fair value.

Debt securities issued in the statement of financial position
include (i) notes issued under the Debt Issuance Programme
(DIP), and (ii) notes issued under the Medium Term Note
(MTN) Programme.

These notes are initially designated as either (i) financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or (ii) other
financial liabilities.

The notes (including those issued with embedded derivative
instruments) designated as at fair value through profit or loss
upon initial recognition are carried at fair value, with changes
in fair value being recorded in the income statement. Those
notes which are designated as hedged items und